
 

Agenda - Y Pwyllgor Plant, Pobl Ifanc ac Addysg 

Lleoliad: 

Ystafell Bwyllgora 1 - y Senedd 

Dyddiad: Dydd Mercher, 22 Mawrth 

2017 

Amser: 09.30

I gael rhagor o wybodaeth cysylltwch a: 

Jon Antoniazzi 

Clerc y Pwyllgor 

0300 200 6565  

SeneddPPIA@cynulliad.cymru 

 

Cyfarfod cyn y prif gyfarfod  

(09.15 - 09.30) 

1 Cyflwyniad, ymddiheuriadau, dirprwyon a datgan buddiannau 

(09.30)   

 

2 Y Bil Anghenion Dysgu Ychwanegol a'r Tribiwnlys Addysg (Cymru) 

- sesiwn dystiolaeth 16 

(09.30 - 10.30) (Tudalennau 1 - 98)  

 

Denise Inger, Prif Weithredwr – SNAP Cymru 

Cath Lewis, Swyddog Datblygu - Plant yng Nghymru 

Debbie Thomas, Swyddog Polisi ac Ymgyrchoedd - Y Gymdeithas Genedlaethol i 

Blant Byddar 

Dr Stephen Beyer, Uwch-ddarlithydd ym Mhrifysgol Caerdydd 

 

Dogfennau atodol: 

Papur Ymchwil 

CYPE(5)-10-17 – Papur | Paper 1 - Cynghrair Anghenion Ychwanegol y Trydydd 

Sector (Saesneg yn unig) 

CYPE(5)-10-17 – Papur | Paper 2 - SNAP Cymru (Saesneg yn unig) 

CYPE(5)-10-17 – Papur | Paper 3 - Plant yng Nghymru (Saesneg yn unig) 

CYPE(5)-10-17 – Papur | Paper 4 - Y Gymdeithas Genedlaethol i Blant Byddar 

(Saesneg yn unig) 

------------------------Pecyn dogfennau cyhoeddus ------------------------



3 Cynnig o dan Reol Sefydlog 17.42(ix) i benderfynu gwahardd y 

cyhoedd o'r cyfarfod ar gyfer yr eitem nesaf. 

(10.30)   

 

4 Ymgynghoriad y 1,000 Diwrnod Cyntaf - cytuno ar ddull 

(10.30 - 10.50) 

 (Tudalennau 99 - 119)  

Dogfennau atodol: 

CYPE(5)-10-17 - Preifat Papur | Private Paper 5 

 

Egwyl (10.50 - 11.00) 

 

5 Y Bil Anghenion Dysgu Ychwanegol a'r Tribiwnlys Addysg (Cymru) 

- sesiwn dystiolaeth 17 

(11.00 - 12.30)   

 

Alun Davies AC, Gweinidog y Gymraeg a Dysgu Gydol Oes  

Emma Williams, Dirprwy Gyfarwyddwr, Cymorth i Ddysgwyr 

Tania Nicholson, Pennaeth Rhaglen Ddeddfwriaethol Anghenion Dysgu 

Ychwanegol 

Mair Roberts, Cyfreithiwr 

Catherine Lloyd, Cyfreithiwr 

 

6 Papurau i’w nodi 

(12.30)   

 

Llythyr gan Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Addysg - rhagor o wybodaeth yn dilyn y 

sesiwn gydag Estyn ar 15 Chwefror 

 (Tudalennau 120 - 121)  

Dogfennau atodol: 

CYPE(5)-10-17 – Papur | Paper 6 - i'w nodi | to note 



Gwybodaeth ychwanegol gan Estyn yn dilyn y cyfarfod ar 15 Chwefror 

 (Tudalennau 122 - 128)  

Dogfennau atodol: 

CYPE(5)-10-17 – Papur | Paper 7 - i'w nodi | to note (Saesneg yn unig) 



Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 1

Eitem 2Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) vi o Reol Sefydlog 17.42



Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru | National Assembly for Wales 

CYPE(5)-10-17 – Papur | Paper 1 
 

Consultation response by Third Sector Additional Needs Alliance (TSANA)  on 

The Additional Learning Needs and Education Tribunal (Wales) Bill 

 

This response has been submitted on behalf of TSANA  a group of voluntary 
organisations which seek to promote and protect the rights of children with additional 
learning needs in Wales. Members include:  Afasic Cymru, Barnardo’s Cymru 
Children in Wales, Learning Disability Wales, Mencap Cymru,  Mudiad Meithrin, 
National Autistic Society (NAS) Cymru, National Deaf Children’s Society (NDCS) 
Cymru,  RNIB Cymru, Sense Cymru, SNAP Cymru, The Down’s Syndrome 
Association.  
 
We wish to draw the Committee’s attention to complimentary and more detailed 
responses from individual organisations who are also members of TSANA .  
 
TSANA’s response does not follow the questions as set but highlight issues of main 
concern.  
 

Multi agency working.  

TSANA welcomes the attempt to strengthen the duty on health bodies to “to consider 
whether there is any relevant treatment or service that is likely to be of benefit in 
addressing a child’s additional learning need” and that “any treatment or service so 
identified must be included in the learner’s IDP, and that the health body must 
secure the provision of the treatment or service”. However if no treatment or service 
is identified, none will have to be provided. It is accepted that many practitioners will 
base their decision on clinical judgement but others may not identify a service 
because they believe that there is a lack of funds to provide it. The reference to 
treatment could also imply a clinical need where what is required is a more holistic 
focus on supporting social and developmental requirements. Other concerns TSANA 
has around health provision include the following:-  

 Section18 (2) must be amended to ensure that a local authority can also refer 
an early years case to a NHS body to ask them to consider if there’s any health 
support from which the child’s learning might benefit 

 Section 18 (3) outlines actions that must be taken prior to a local 
authority/governing body making a referral to a health body to consider a 
learner’s support needs. It is important that these actions do not cause 
substantial delays to the IDP process. 

 The Bill does not appear to enable a governing body to request information for 
an IDP from health. This needs to be rectified.  

 The new role of a Designated Education Clinical Lead Officer (DECLO) in 
each health board must be clearly defined as a strategic role.  

 The duty placed on health bodies in section 58 (2) is weak. It would be easy for 
a health professional to decline a request to provide information for an IDP with 
little reasoning 

 Clarification is needed seeks clarification on the relationship between IDPs and 
IHPs (Individual Healthcare Plans). 

 Section 19(6) states that if NHS request removal of their provision, “the 
governing body or local authority must comply with the request”. The use of 

Tudalen y pecyn 55



‘must’ is worrying as it implies there is no need for further discussion before 
vital support is removed from a learner. 

 Section 57 (4) states that health bodies ‘may’ bring to attention of a local 
authority that they consider a child could have ALN. This is weak considering 
the key role that health play in the lives of many learners with ALN, especially 
within the early years when health professionals are those most likely to identify 
a hearing loss. This requirement should be a “must”, as in the equivalent duty 
on English health bodies (see section 23 of the Children and Families Act 
2014).  
 

Under the ALN Bill, the LA can approach health for information and support but 
schools cannot. Clarity is therefore needed on how information from health can be 
accessed. Health accountability is also an issue and TSANA is disappointed that the 
role of the Education Tribunal isn’t being expanded to cover health. Instead 
complaints will continue to be investigated under “Putting Things Right” and this 
means that families will have to go to different places to appeal one IDP which is 
confusing.  

Fundamentally TSANA believes this is a child rights and entitlement issue. Children 
aren’t going to learn if their health needs are not being met. The Rights of Children 
and Young Persons (Wales) Measure places a clear duty on all Welsh Ministers, in 
exercising their functions, to have ‘due regard’ to the UNCRC. 

Needs Assessment / Provision Pathway and the Individual Development Plan  

Under the reformed system, schools will be responsible for identifying which 
specialist professionals need to be involved in a learner’s assessment and in 
determining whether or not the IDP should be the responsibility of a local authority. It 
is important that this does not become a barrier to children with low incidence 
disabilities accessing specialists like teachers of the deaf due to a lack of awareness 
on a school level .TSANA acknowledges the development of disability specific 
pathways would help schools to identify when to pass IDPs on to a local authority 
and also which specialist professionals should be involved. We strongly urge that 
TSANA members are consulted on the development of these crucial resources, and 
that they are placed on a statutory footing. 

A mandatory IDP template is required to ensure that the IDP is consistent and 
portable, legally accountable, and transparent across Wales. TSANA would welcome 
the opportunity to work with the Welsh Government on the development of such a 
template. See appendix for a paper written by TSANA on the IDP, which outlines the 
content we would wish to be included.  
 
TSANA supports looked after children with ALN being entitled to an IDP. We also 
recommend that the care leaver’s pathway plan and the care and support plan, 
under Part 6 and Part 4 of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 
respectively, link to the IDP.  

Advocacy  

Advocacy provision should operate to a minimum standard and TSANA strongly 
recommends national statutory guidelines to ensure transparency and 
consistency. TSANA is disappointed that there is no provision in the Bill for access to 
independent advocacy at the information and advice stage. If this happened 
disagreements could be rectified at an early stage, which would also be cost 

Tudalen y pecyn 56

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/6/section/23/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/6/section/23/enacted


effective. TSANA recommends that whenever a family are notified of any changes in 
the IDP process, they are informed of their rights and how they may access 
advocacy. Also that any information provided to families is accessible, i.e. in plain 
language which meets any communication and access needs.   
 
The Bill places a duty on local authorities to refer children and young people to an 
independent advocacy service on request, but it does not explicitly provide for the 
provision of advocacy for parents, this in spite of the Code informing that” the child, 
child’s parent or young person should be enabled to participate as fully as possible in 
the decision making processes.’  TSANA believes it is imperative that the new ALN 
system does not disadvantage children and young people of parents less able to 
navigate the system. We therefore, strongly recommend that parents can access 
advocacy support themselves.  

Early years 

TSANA is concerned that there is still a lack of detail in the Bill about how the system 
will work in an early years’ context. This must be rectified. In addition, the 
Explanatory Memorandum states that maintained nurseries must follow the statutory 
Code of Practice, while private nurseries will only have to pay regard to it. However 
some private nurseries receive state funding to provide pre-school places on behalf 
of local authorities. As these nurseries will therefore be in receipt of public funds, 
they must be under the same statutory obligations as maintained nurseries. If this 
doesn’t occur, the quality of ALN provision for families within the same local authority 
could be subject to inequalities and post-code lotteries. It is also important to 
consider how the legislation will affect pre-school playgroups and other early years’ 
settings such as childcare.  
 
As the First 1,000 Days of parenting are now accepted to be the most significant in 
a child’s development, it is especially important that parents are given appropriate 
support during this time. Health professionals, including health visitors and GPs, are 
the main universal professional contact for families in the early years and TSANA 
therefore recommends that it is important to raise awareness of the new ALN 
systems among these professionals. 
 
Monitoring / Data Recording  
Members of TSANA are aware that there is an increasing number of cases being 
referred to the Tribunal because the needs of children with specific leaning 
difficulties are not being met. TSANA therefore recommends that The Tribunal, 
Welsh Government and the Regional Consortia could have a role in reviewing data 
and consider how to deal with any recurrent issues. Estyn should have a role in 
monitoring ALN provision, assessment, IDPs, support systems, complaints and 
disputes framework. The establishment of a process for stakeholder feedback and 
monitoring of the Bill is recommended. 

Workforce Issues and training 

In order to implement the reforms, professionals working with children and young 
people with ALN will require appropriate training and capacity building. This must 
include general disability equality training as well as basic awareness training on the 
specific disabilities of individual children and young people plus training on the IDP 
process. Initial teacher education must also include basic awareness raising of 

Tudalen y pecyn 57



additional learning needs so they are better able to identify and refer on children who 
may have these needs. 
 
Transition to Adulthood  
The Bill gives little information about young people who leave school, do not go onto 
further education but do require support from social services, health and other 
agencies. Previously many young people in this position were supported through the 
Welsh Government funded Transition Key Worker programme which ran from 2008 
– 2013 and the convergence funded Regional SEN Transition to Employment 
Initiative from 2011 – 2014 and TSANA is concerned that learning from these 
programmes is being lost. TSANA also recommends that support is also offered to young 

people who are approaching the end of their IDP age range.  

Further Education Institution (FEIs)  
These institutions are independent and outside the control of LA. Currently FEIs 
largely support young people with high incidence and low level needs.  However as a 
result of the transfer of post 16 funding from WG to LA revenue support grant, and 
more detail is required on how the IDP process will operate for such learners during 
the application process. TSANA also recommends that there are clear systems and 
structures for the FEIs to operate within.  
 
Apprenticeships and work-based learning  
TSANA is disappointed about the non-inclusion of apprenticeships and work-based 
learning opportunities in The Bill. Some pilots including e.g. Project SEARCH 
through the Engage to Change project are taking place in Wales and learning from 
these could be rolled out to cover the whole of Wales.  
 

Response submitted by Catherine M. Lewis, Chair of TSANA   
Catherine.Lewis@childreninwales.org.uk 
 
 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 58

mailto:Catherine.Lewis@childreninwales.org.uk


Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru | National Assembly for Wales 

CYPE(5)-10-17 – Papur | Paper 2 

 

SNAP Cymru evidence to the National Assembly for Wales Children, Young People and education 

Committee. Consultation on the general principals of the Additional Learning Needs and Education 

Tribunal (Wales) Bill. 

 

SNAP Cymru calls for the committee to consider that: 

1. Section 61 of the bill (avoidance and resolution of disagreements), subsection 3 should read 

‘The arrangements under subsections (1) and (2) must include provision for parties to a 

disagreement to access help in resolving it from persons who are independent from the 

Local Authority.’ 

2. Families should receive information from Local Authorities that is clear, transparent and 

about the law, regulations and the code rather than their own local policies.  

3. Policies and provision across Wales should not be a post code lottery and should be 

delivered on a policy and a procedure for Wales. Good practice should be better shared and 

provision must be enhanced, accepting that the whole transformation agenda will take time. 

(Points 48 to 50 of this document) 

 

4. SNAP Cymru disputes the information found in the ALN and ET (Wales) Bill Explanatory 

Memorandum incorporating the RIA and explanatory notes (specifically section 8) and calls 

for the committee to urgently scrutinise the document and its findings. (Paragraphs 51 to 68 

of this document which covers the number of cases involved and the actual costs and 

funding from local authorities) 

 

SNAP Cymru’s Charitable Objectives are: 

5. To provide or assist in providing information, advice and support to enable children and 

young people and their parents or guardians to participate fully and equally in society.  

6. To assist parents and guardians in their understanding of relevant legislation and through 

this to facilitate their children’s contribution and involvement in life choices.  

7. To facilitate the partnership of young people, parents and professionals in decisions relating 

to education and inclusion. 

 

8. Independent Social Return on Investment analysis (SROI) estimates that for every £1 

invested in SNAP Cymru activities there is £20.61 of social value created. (Wavehill, SNAP 

SROI Model, March 2014)  

9. SNAP Cymru services are Quality Assured. We hold the Community Legal Services Specialist 

Quality Mark in Education Advice; The Investors in People (Bronze); Investing in Volunteers 

quality Award; The Queens Diamond Jubilee Award for Volunteering. Our training unit is 

accredited by Agored Cymru to level 4, and our website has been selected as an example of 

excellence in bilingual contemporary media in Wales as part of the Digital National Archive. 

 
Tudalen y pecyn 59



 2 

 

Services for families 

10. SNAP Cymru is a Welsh Charity that provides a range of services to support children, young 

people and families.  We help families solve their problems and empower them to move on 

with their lives. We are best known for our Parent Partnership Service which is currently a 

statutory duty S332A, Education Act, 1996 and SEN COP 2:16. This service provides 

independent accurate information, advice and support for parents, children and young 

people (0-25) who have additional learning needs, or problems that are preventing them 

reach their potential. The advice we provide is accurate, impartial, honest and reliable, and 

is provided through our national helpline, interactive website, and for those that need more 

support, through our specialist casework and advocacy services.  

 

11. We aim to promote partnership between children, young people, families and professionals, 

helping them to seek agreement on the provision of support for children and young people. 

By encouraging open dialogue and negotiation real conflict is avoided, leading to better 

outcomes for children and young people.  

 

12. Working throughout Wales from SNAP Cymru offices, drop in centres, surgeries, telephone 

support and home visits SNAP Cymru works holistically with families using a partnership and 

empowerment model. By providing key working, accurate information, objective advice, 

direct independent professional specialist advocacy, support and training we empower 

families and promote true partnership between all stakeholders.   The focus of our work 

encompasses a range of issues including: assessments, statements of special educational 

needs, barriers to communication, bullying, school attendance, exclusion, health, and 

training, transition, preparing for adult life, work and social care. We also help parents, 

carers, children and young people to understand and complete forms/reports, with 

preparing and attending appointments, meetings, appeals, and tribunals.  

 

13. SNAP Cymru is rooted in local communities across Wales, giving us extensive local 

knowledge of local policy and practice as well as legislation and national policy. SNAP 

Cymru’ s flexible staff and volunteers are able and willing to work collaboratively and quickly 

to identify and respond to emerging need and trends.  

 

Casework information. The evidence base for this information is derived from the SNAP Cymru 

database including the feedback from families and professionals who have accessed the service.  

14. There has been a significant increase in the number of families SNAP Cymru are working 

with. This increase is a trend across Wales.     

 

15. The number of referrals received in the first two quarters of 2016/17 is equivalent to the 

number of referrals received for the whole of last year, 2937. Each referral raises two or 

more problems to deal with. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 60



 3 

16. SNAP Cymru understands there are a number of reasons for the overall increase in referrals 

with the main reason being reported by families is anxiety and uncertainty by parents and 

carers about the measures in the ALN Bill. Staff and volunteers have responded to the 

increase in referrals in a timely and effective manner. The significant increase in demand 

and the feedback from families illustrates the need for an independent service works that 

can work holistically with families using a partnership and empowerment model that 

includes key working.   

 

17. The number of problems presented in the first two quarters of 2016/17 has risen to 7,290 

from the whole year total 2015/16 of 5,579. This is a significant increase. If this trend 

continues to the end of the year we will have dealt with more than twice as many problems 

as last year. 

 

18. There was a minimum of two problems presented per referral, the problems presented 

included: Access to Services, Education, Access to Services, Health Access to Services, SSD, 

Advocacy, Amendment to Statement, Annual Review, Appeals, Admission, Appeals 

Exclusion, Appeals - SEN Tribunal, At Risk of Exclusion, Benefits & Grants, Bullying, Cease 

To Maintain Statement, Communication Breakdown, Complaints, Local Authority, Complaints 

School, Disagreement Resolution Informal, Discrimination, Early Years Provision, Educational 

Provision, Exclusion, Fixed, Exclusion Illegal, Exclusion Internal, Exclusion Permanent, Home 

Education, Home Tuition, IEP / IDP, NEET, No Placement, Non Attendance, Note in Lieu, 

Placement, Proposed / Draft Statement, Refusal to Assess, Refusal to undertake Statutory 

Assessment, School Assessments, Statement, Statutory Assessment, Transition, Transport.  

 

19. By providing key working, accurate information, objective advice, direct independent 

professional specialist advocacy, support and training SNAP Cymru has empowered families 

and promoted true partnership between all stakeholders. The majority of families SNAP has 

worked with reported increased confidence to advocate effectively on behalf of their child 

and improved relationships with professionals with the majority of children and young 

people reporting that they were actively supported to participate in decision-making about 

their future and where appropriate, to make choices  

 

Scope of SNAP Cymru’s Activities  

Informal dispute resolution (SNAP Cymru and Local Authority practice of ‘Early avoidance of 

Disagreements’) 

20. In 67% of cases actioned by SNAP there is evidence that there was an avoidance of 

escalation to formal disagreement.  SNAP Cymru has helped by building trust and 

understanding bringing all sides together in mutual trust and respect. Communication can 

be a major barrier, our officer’s and volunteers have worked informally to resolve issues, 

plan and facilitate meetings, empowering and supporting both parents and professionals, 

encouraging partnership working. These crucial activities have helped to avoid 

disagreements escalating, and reduced conflict. This work has also helped to avoid 

Tudalen y pecyn 61



 4 

escalation to formal processes including complaints and appeals to the Special Educational 

Needs Tribunal Wales (SENTW). Most Local Authorities in Wales have an open-door policy in 

relation to working with SNAP Cymru and are eager to meet with families at the earliest 

possible time to avoid dispute and conflict.   

School Exclusion 

21. The number of referrals received where the problem presented concerned exclusion in the 

first two quarters of 2016/17 is nearly double the number of referrals received for the whole 

year of 2015/16.  The total referrals for Q1 and Q2 were 697 and for the referrals 2015/16 

were 338.  Problems concerning exclusion issues represent 23% of the total referrals.  The 

children and young people concerned have Additional Learning Needs. 

Formal Appeals and Complaints 

22. SNAP has de-escalated the situation in respect of possible formal appeals to SENTW.  In 

12% of the referrals received by SNAP Cymru families the possibility of appealing to SENTW 

was discussed of which 71% were considering appeal to SENTW with only 22% of those 

considering an appeal actually lodging an appeal with SENTW.  SNAP Cymru has helped by 

building trust and understanding bringing all sides together in mutual trust and respect. 

Communication between families and professionals can be a major barrier, our officer’s and 

volunteers have worked informally to resolve issues, plan and facilitate meetings, 

empowering and supporting both parents and professionals, encouraging partnership 

working. These crucial activities have helped to avoid disagreements escalating, and 

reduced conflict. This work has also helped to avoid escalation to formal processes including 

complaints and appeals to SENTW.  

Grievance against Local Authority or School 

23. There is a significant increase in the number of parents expressing a grievance against the 

LA or the school, it is a trend across Wales.  The total number of complaints about the 

school or LA in 2015/16 was 177 approximately 20% of the number of complaints of Q1 and 

Q2. SNAP Cymru sees this as a response to parents’ anxiety and uncertainty about the 

provision in the Education Bill as one of the reasons for the significant increase.    

 

Hours of support evidenced on individual named case files 

24. Minimum of 3 Hours per case. This represents 35% of the cases worked on during Q1 and 

Q2. These were the lower input cases which most often were handled from start to finish 

through the Telephone help centre and/or via email from the SNAP Cymru website. This 

service has been provided to triage, listening and understanding problems offering early 

advice and guidance and referring more complex or contentious cases to our Casework 

Teams. The aim has been to reduce conflict through early intervention. 

 

25. Over 7 Hours per case. This represents 32% of the cases worked on during Q1 and Q2. 

These are generally the cases where families required a listening ear and support with filling 

in forms and reports, and with preparing for appointments, meetings, appeals, and 

tribunals. Most of these cases were forwarded from the telephone help centre to the 

casework service for more intensive support. 

Tudalen y pecyn 62



 5 

 

 

26.  Up to 20 Hours per case. This represents 21% of the cases worked on during Q1 and Q2. 

Some families required more specialist support with complex problems, or they needed 

more help with understanding their child’s ALN, and developing positive relationships with 

school and the professionals working with their child.  SNAP Cymru caseworkers worked 

with the families to help them understand the issues, their rights roles and responsibilities of 

all partners in the process. We helped them understand reports and fill in forms, and 

explained about the benefits of working together in partnership, about the avoidance of 

disagreements, and gave information and helped with appeals, discrimination issues and 

complaints. 

 

27. More than 20 Hours per case. This represents 12% of the cases worked on during Q1 and 

Q2. Cases of over 20 hours represented a smaller number. However, these were usually 

very complex, time-consuming cases requiring specialist support from skilled and 

experienced staff. The type of casework included Pupil Disciplinary Committee/ Independent 

Appeals, SENTW Appeals, Discrimination and Complaints. The kind of work carried out 

included preparation, advocacy, and facilitation of meetings, and in some cases, support at 

appeals and tribunals. 

 

28. SNAP Cymru calls for fairness, transparency, access to information, advice, advocacy, 

avoidance of disputes and dispute resolution in the new additional learning needs system. 

 

29. SNAP Cymru believes in strong, empowered and resilient families. Providing support for 

families when they need it most. Providing Independent Advice, Information, Dispute and 

Avoidance Services. 

 

30. SNAP Cymru believes that free impartial advice is crucial and valued by the people receiving 

it. The significant increase in demand and the feedback from families illustrates the need for 

an independent service that can work holistically with families using a partnership and 

empowerment model that includes key working.  It is vital that families receive accurate 

information and advice about ALN legislation and the code. We believe that information, 

advice, support, advocacy and dispute resolution services should be wholly independent. 

 

31. Many families perceive and report that Local Authorities prefer their own interpretation, 

their own policies and procedures rather than legislation, regulation and the code. Their 

experience to date has not given them confidence in a new system. Many report that they 

have been pushed into accepting provision that falls short in meeting their children’s needs 

and have been left with no right of appeal. Under the current system where parents have 

accepted provision without a statement and things have gone wrong for their child they tell 

us that they feel disempowered and hopeless, passed from school to Local Authority and 

back again, one blaming the other, sadly wasting precious time for their child or young 

person. Unfortunately, we have evidence that many parents have been unaware of their 

rights prior to a consultation with SNAP Cymru. Parents need transparency, need 

information and explanation, expect to be told of all options open to their child. Our 

Tudalen y pecyn 63



 6 

experience is that this does not always happen. Parents report that they have had to give 

up as they feel that they cannot compete with the Local Authority. Schools too report that 

they are not always happy with arrangements and have spoken to SNAP and parents stating 

that often any additional funding attached to the arrangement is minimal and only agreed 

for a very short block of time; that it often comes with no additional advice, training or EP 

time, and that often the child or young person’s needs are such that they require a full 

assessment which should include outside agencies assessment and advice and does not. 

 

Evidence to Support Independence 

32. In response to the information found in the ALN and ET (Wales) Bill Explanatory 

Memorandum incorporating the RIA and explanatory notes: Page 98 7.41 – 7.43 

 

33. 7.41 Evidence from a local authority which has introduced the role of additional learning 

needs family support officer as a way to avoid disagreements has seen a significant fall in 

the number of appeals to tribunal.  

 

34. 7.42 The additional learning needs family support officer is responsible for providing advice 

and support with assessments, statements and annual reviews, including preparation for 

and support at meetings.  

 

35. 7.43 Children and young people should also benefit through having a more efficient and less 

formal approach to resolving disagreements. 

 

SNAP Cymru Response 

36. Whilst we recognise the benefits of having Local Authority personnel with time, patience 

and an in-depth knowledge of rights in legislation, we present a wider picture for 

Carmarthenshire. We bring to the attention of the committee that there has been an 

increase in referrals to SNAP Cymru in all LAs across Wales. Carmarthenshire receives 6 

monthly reports from SNAP Cymru relating to the annual SLA for Parent Partnership 

Services including Disagreement Resolution.   

 

Example ‘SNAP Cymru Executive Summary’ report for Carmarthenshire for the period 1st April 

2016 to 30th September 2016.  

37. The evidence base for the report is derived from the SNAP Cymru database including the 

feedback from families and professionals who have accessed the service.  

 

38. There has been an increase in demand for the services available from SNAP Cymru from 

families in Carmarthenshire. There has been an increase in the number of referrals received.  

This increase is a trend across Wales.     

 

39. The number of referrals received in the first two quarters of 2016/17 is 86, 62% of the 

number of referrals received last year, 139. Each referral raised a minimum of 2 problems. 

Tudalen y pecyn 64



 7 

 

40. There has been a significant increase in the numbers of problems presented.  The numbers 

of problems presented in the first two quarters of 2016/17 exceeds the number of problems 

presented for the whole year of 2015/16 by 38 to 177. The total for last year was 139.  

 

Highlights from the Carmarthenshire report: 

 

41. In 98% of cases actioned by SNAP there is evidence that there was an avoidance of 

escalation to formal disagreement.  SNAP Cymru believes that it is essential that each of the 

parties involved understand the problems each other’s point of view, SNAP Cymru has 

helped by building trust and understanding bringing all sides together in mutual trust and 

respect. Communication can be a major barrier, our officer’s and volunteers have worked 

informally to resolve issues, plan and facilitate meetings, empowering and supporting both 

parents and professionals, encouraging partnership working. These crucial activities have 

helped to avoid disagreements escalating, and reduced conflict. This work has also helped 

to avoid escalation to formal processes including complaints and appeals to SENTW 

 

42. SNAP has de-escalated the situation in respect of possible formal appeals to SENTW.  In 

33% of the casework families discussed the possibility of appealing to SENTW of which 14% 

stated they were considering appealing to SENTW.  Of the 28 cases only 6, 21%, lodged an 

appeal with SENTW.  (some of these cases may be withdrawn from SENTW through 

informal or formal disagreement resolution)  

 

43. SNAP Cymru provided avoidance of dispute at local level in 96% of cases to help resolve 

matters. SNAP believes that it is essential that each of the parties involved understand the 

problems of each other’s point of view, SNAP Cymru has helped by building trust and 

understanding bringing all sides together in mutual trust and respect. 

 

44. 60% of the cases in Q1 and Q2 had a complaint against the school or the LA on one of the 

matters.  There is a significant increase in the number of parents expressing a grievance 

against the LA or the school, in Q2.  Whilst there is a trend across Wales the number of 

complaints and the increase in Q2 is particularly significant in Carmarthenshire.  (SNAP 

Cymru Interim Report to Carmarthenshire Local Authority, Executive Summary, P.2)  

 

 

Independent information, advice, dispute, avoidance, and advocacy 

45. Whilst we believe the introduction of Carmarthenshire’s family support officer role is 

effective in so much as we cannot provide sufficient services for families on the current rate 

of commissioned services from Carmarthenshire. We can also evidence an increase in 

referrals to SNAP Cymru’s independent service from the same Local Authority over the same 

time period. Parents perceive the service from SNAP Cymru as independent and tell us they 

are more confident when using our service. Evidence from the stakeholder events has been 

Tudalen y pecyn 65



 8 

overwhelmingly in favour of independence when it comes to delivering information, advice, 

dispute, avoidance, and advocacy. 

 

Supporting Evidence 

46. During the recent participant events in Cardiff and Llandudno parents and carers said: ‘This 

needs to be really tight’. ‘Local Authorities often put their own policies before the law’. 

‘There would be more of an adversarial situation without SNAP Cymru support.’  

‘Independent support is badly funded.’ Parents state that Local Authorities have not been 

truthful with information to them in the past and expressed how difficult and stressful a time 

they had trying to get LAs to commit support for their child. They also felt strongly that: 

Advice and avoidance and resolution services and advocacy should be independent and not 

funded by LA- should be funded directly by Welsh Government directly.  ‘Disagreement 

resolution-parents want someone on their side’. ‘We need honest Options/choices identified-

informed.’ ‘Catching early years is so important, we need early information, mediation rather 

than tribunal.’ ‘Early information provision and dispute resolution – ‘should not be an LA 

person.’ 

 

The evidence from the stakeholder event of 26th January also supports independence: 

47. ‘Families need information, advice and advocacy support as early as possible. The 

independence of this advice is vital.’ ‘Parents are more likely to accept decisions they may 

not necessarily like if an explanation comes from an independent, credible source.’ (6.3 

P.12) ‘Advocacy to support should be available from an independent source from the early 

disagreement avoidance stages through to the dispute resolution stages. Families need 

support ‘from start to finish, including when attending tribunal.’ (6.4 P.13) ‘The Bill does not 

include provision for parent partnerships’. ‘Currently, local authorities contract with 

organisations such as SNAP to provide parent partnership services.’ (6.4 P.13) 

 

SNAP Cymru calls for the committee to consider that: 

48. Section 61 of the bill (avoidance and resolution of disagreements), subsection 3 should read 

‘The arrangements under subsections (1) and (2) must include provision for parties to a 

disagreement to access help in resolving it from persons who are independent from the 

Local Authority.’ 

 

49. Families should receive information from Local Authorities that is clear, transparent and 

about the law, regulations and the code rather than their own local policies.  

 

50. Policies and provision across Wales should not be a post code lottery and should be 

delivered on a policy and a procedure for Wales. Good practice should be better shared and 

provision must be enhanced, accepting that the whole transformation agenda will take time. 

Funding Disagreement Resolution Services 

Tudalen y pecyn 66



 9 

51. SNAP Cymru disputes the information found in the ALN and ET (Wales) Bill Explanatory 

Memorandum incorporating the RIA and explanatory notes (Pages 115 onwards 

incorporating 8.72 – 8.103): 

 

52. RIA 8.76 states: During the 30-month period October 2013 to April 2016, SNAP Cymru dealt 

with approximately 12,600 cases on behalf of 20 local authorities. The following is disputed: 

 

a. For information the 12,600 refers to the number of cases available to the responder 

from the electronic data base and the source of the percentages given, and not the 

number of cases received in a 30 month period. 

 

53. RIA 8.77 states: The primary reason for 3,485 of these was the resolution of disagreements 

around wanting or having a statement of SEN. The average cost per case, where appeal to 

SENTW is avoided, is £2,000. Thus, 20 of the 22 local authorities in Wales spent an average 

of approximately £2,788,000 a year funding disagreement resolutions services for 1,394 

disagreements around wanting or having a statement. Grossing these figures up from 20 

local authorities to 22 local authorities equates to £3,066,800 per year for funding 

disagreement resolutions services for 1,533 disagreements across 22 local authorities. This 

is equivalent to £3,164,000 in 2016-17 prices. 

SNAP Cymru Response 

54. The above implies that the 20 Local Authorities have funded SNAP Cymru (as the major 

provider) to provide disagreement resolution services at the total cost of £2,788.000 per 

year (2013 – 15 prices) and £2,876.400 (2016 -17 prices) (Table 15 Page 139). 

 

55. This is not the case and brings this and further sections of the assessment report into 

disrepute. Clearly there has been misunderstanding in the information gained which is 

disappointing to SNAP Cymru as the misinformation /interpretation has set our service 

practice in a very poor light in relation cost implications for Local Authorities and families. 

The committee should consider the following:  

 

True cost of supporting families  

56. 1 where a case progresses to SENTW - Average cost of supporting a family from their initial 

concerns or complaints through to SENTW appeal is £4,125 (118 hours average)  

 

57. 2 where a case is resolved through formal disagreement resolution without recourse to 

tribunal - Average cost of supporting a family who want to appeal to tribunal but where we 

provide a successful formal mediation session (average 57 hours) £2000. Total number of 

cases in these two categories in the period described - 30 months, was 20 

NB. PLEASE NOTE THIS IS THE COST TO SNAP CYMRU BASED ON INDICATIVE STAFF COSTS 

AND NOT THE AMOUNT BEING PAID BY THE LOCAL AUTHORITIES IN WALES.  

58. The costs to Local Authorities for Formal Disagreement Resolution is £600 for each case. 

These are very few. Of the fewer cases where SNAP Cymru has been involved in Tribunal 

Tudalen y pecyn 67



 10 

there has been no additional costs to the Local Authority above the agreed SLA 

commissioned services for Parent Partnership Services. All services provided by SNAP Cymru 

have been free at the point of delivery for the last 30 years. The vast majority of cases 

brought to SNAP Cymru are resolved informally at local level. We have delivered a 

successful avoidance of formal dispute service through an independent, objective but 

impartial services. Practice is based on an empowerment model providing key working and 

or advocacy when required and as funding allows. The Parent Partnership Services have 

been enhanced by additional funding including fundraising, volunteering and Welsh 

Government/Local Authority Family First and Disability Discrimination Advice funding. 

Looking back 30 months from February 17. 

59. Almost all cases - totalling 7,135 were resolved in times ranging from 2 to 180 hours, 

without appealing to SENTW, at a cost of £70 to £4,400 to SNAP Cymru.  The average case 

time is around 10 hours outside of Families First contracts. Of the 7,125 cases that did not 

result in an appeal to SENTW around 71% received informal disagreement resolution. These 

cases brought 17,000+ matters seeking resolution: ranging from education provision and 

exclusion through to complaints and appeals. 

 

60. The costs to Local Authorities for Formal Disagreement Resolution is £600 for each case 

(17/18 cost to LA.) This cost is split between preparatory casework with all parties including 

administration and the dispute resolution session with all parties. These Formal sessions are 

very few and some of these can be resolved at the preparatory stages, reducing the costs to 

LAs by 50%.  On the fewer cases where SNAP Cymru has been involved in Tribunal there 

has been no additional costs to the Local Authority above the agreed SLA commissioned 

services for Parent Partnership Services including volunteer Independent Parental 

Supporters (IPS). All services provided by SNAP Cymru have been free at the point of 

delivery for the last 30 years. The vast majority of cases brought to SNAP Cymru are 

resolved informally at local level. We have delivered a successful avoidance of Formal 

Dispute service through an independent, objective but impartial service based on an 

empowerment model providing key-working and or advocacy when required and as funding 

allows. The Parent Partnership Services have been enhanced by additional funding including 

fundraising, volunteering and Welsh Government/Local Authority Family First and Disability 

Discrimination Advice funding. 

 

61. This case load, when costed at a true cost of fully funded service delivery, should cost over 

£1.6 million per year but as it is supported by volunteering activity plus subsidised by other 

charitable giving, grants and sale of services and goods it is delivered at well below these 

costs to LA Commissioners.  However, in these past two years SNAP Cymru has used its 

reserves to continue to provide services in each of the last two financial years and will do so 

again in this current financial year: 

         14/15 = - £40,548 

         15/16 = - £21,680 

62. The use of reserves to subsidise Local Authority work is unsustainable, our reserves are now 

depleted to 3 months running costs. We are running a very tight ship and getting 

Tudalen y pecyn 68



 11 

exceptional value for every £ spent. The actual costs funded by local authorities in 2014-

2015 was £720,000 and £823,000 in 2015-16.  Thus it is clear that local authorities are 

getting amazing value for money but also that their level of funding will need to increase if 

they want the same number, or more, cases dealt with in the future.  SNAP Cymru’s total 

income for the 30-month period specified in the RIA document was £2,502,057 

 

63. Within the Welsh Government Explanatory Memorandum and Regulatory Impact 

Assessment dated December 2016 it is stated that Local Authorities have been funding 

SNAP Cymru to the tune of £2.7 Million pounds, per annum, strictly for the handling of 

approximately 1,394 cases per annum.  Unfortunately, this is not possible.  Whilst we would 

dearly love to be so well funded, it is not a reflection on reality.  Within the time-period 

specified (30 months), SNAP Cymru has received, from all sources (Including grants, 

fundraising, donations & Charity shops), 2.5 Million pounds in income.  This 2.5 million 

pounds has provided casework, advice and disagreement resolution services to 12,600 

cases across Wales.  It is simply not reasonable to suggest that 1,394 instances of 

disagreement resolution, has cost Local Authorities 2.7 Million pounds per year, when the 

total amount of money they provide to the purveyors of this service is, on average, 

£574,434 per annum.  This is the amount of money we receive for provision of Parent 

Partnership services from Local Authorities.  This service is enhanced by funding from the 

Families First project which enables us to provide additional support for the most vulnerable 

families.  However, even with this included, the total funding for the Provision of all Parent 

Partnership Services, including disagreement resolution, is just £814,201 per annum. 

 

64. The figures arrived at within this report form the basis for a great deal of mathematical 

calculations made regarding how much services cost and projections about how much 

money could be saved under alternative models.  However, as demonstrated above, the 

central claim regarding the amount of cost incurred by local authorities, is not backed up by 

any evidence.  The attribution of a £2.7 Million pounds cost per annum for services provided 

to 1,394 cases has absolutely no basis in reality and is in fact an order of magnitude away 

from offering even a partial representation of the true funding picture.  Reliable data is the 

cornerstone of good decision making.  As such, all conclusions drawn from this grossly 

misrepresentative figure, cannot be considered sound.   

Cost 

65. The actual costs funded by local authorities in 2014-2015 was £720,000 and £823,000 in 

2015-16.  Thus it is clear that local authorities are getting amazing value for money but also 

that their level of funding will need to increase if they want the same number, or more, 

cases dealt with in the future. 

 

66. The actual total funding received from Local Authorities in relation to Parent Partnership 

Services and Disagreement Resolution is: 

         2012/2013 £678,800.88 

         2013/2014  £674,786.48 

         2014/2015  £554,840.74 

Tudalen y pecyn 69



 12 

         2015/2016  £591.482.10 

         2016/2017  £595,465.39 

67. Additional funding from a range of source including fundraising, shops and Welsh 

Government, (Disability Discrimination Advice, Inclusive Play, Families First) enhances this 

service. 

         2012/2013  £166,354.50   + ESF Convergence £430,245.00 (2012/2013 only) 

         2013/2014  £221,398.67 

         2014/2015  £203,419.54 

         2015/2016  £227,141.67 

         2016/2017  £214,921.00 

Audited accounts available upon request from Denise Inger, Chief Executive Officer, SNAP Cymru 

email denise.inger@snapcymru.org and, also available via the Charities Commission website as 

public documents. 

68. SNAP Cymru calls for the committee to have significant scrutiny to the findings in the ALN 

and ET (Wales) Bill Explanatory Memorandum incorporating the RIA and explanatory notes, 

specifically 115 onwards incorporating 8.72 – 8.103 which are factually incorrect.  

Funding advice, information, avoidance of disagreement and advocacy services  

69. Many families tell us that they would not have resolved their problems without our support. 

However, we can only do this if we receive sufficient funding. Whoever provides 

information, advice, dispute resolution and advocacy services, they will need to be 

consistently highly trained and adequately resourced in order to deliver and meet demand.  

 

70. In just two quarters of this year SNAP Cymru has received nearly 3,000 referrals to the 

service and worked with over 7,290 problems. This in just 6 months! 

 

71. 75% of referrals required the support from a caseworker - 2,250 cases. This is double the 

workload expected of each skilled and experienced caseworker. So, putting it quite simply 

we need more capacity to meet demand, adequate funding to provide the quality of service 

expected.  

 

72. SNAP Cymru is presently receiving less than half the funding it needs to meet current 

demand. We know we are not alone, and that we all must work within very limited 

resources, however, if Welsh Government and Local Authorities are committed to ensuring 

the rights of children and families and equality for the most vulnerable in Wales a fair 

funding formula needs to be agreed for whoever provides it.     

 

 

73. SNAP Cymru believes there will be an unavoidable surge of anxiety from families and 

professionals. Change is always difficult to achieve and it will take considerable time before 

the transformation agenda is achieved. Effective communication and engagement of all 

Tudalen y pecyn 70

mailto:denise.inger@snapcymru.org


 13 

stakeholders will be key and it will be vital for schools FEI’s and LAs to have transparent 

systems, clear consistent messages across Wales and sign up from all professionals 

involved.  

 

74. Whilst statutory IDPs are welcome they will not remove all the problems experienced in the 

current system. Costs savings identified are grossly overestimated and whilst we would wish 

for a smooth transition to include young people up to 25 we do not envisage that the 

systems will not be challenged. There is likely to be difficulties between Local Authorities 

and FEI’s and schools and this will not be missed by young people and families, resulting in 

low confidence and anxiety which in itself will cause dispute.  The assumption of there not 

being any disagreement or appeals because there is no statement is not the reality. We do 

believe the legislative changes will bring about a fairer system over time but this will not be 

without costs. 

 

75. SNAP Cymru welcomes the considerations to early years and all our young people 0-25 

within our education systems with ALN to have an IDP where needed but we must 

recognise that this will have additional risks of disagreements and appeals and that young 

people and families must have independent information advice, support and advocacy 

where required.    

 

76. SNAP Cymru notes the WLGA responses and agree that it is ‘highly likely that the system 

will be tested in the short to medium term and there is a risk that local authority resources 

could be stretched if the full implications of extending the statutory system in terms of 

additional disagreements/appeals are not properly addressed now. It is equally the case that 

any rise in appeals will have a significant impact on the Education Tribunal’. 

Tudalen y pecyn 71



Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru | National Assembly for Wales 

CYPE(5)-10-17 – Papur | Paper 3 
 

 

Children in Wales is the national umbrella organisation in Wales for those 

working with and for children and young people, bringing organisations and 

individuals from all disciplines and sectors together. Children in Wales also 

ensures that children and young people’s voices are heard by decision 

makers. One of our core aims is to make the United Nations Convention on 

the Rights of the Child (UNCRC) a reality in Wales. Children in Wales 

campaigns for sustainable quality services for all children and young people, 

with special attention for children in need and works to ensure children and 

young people have a voice in issues that affect them.  

 

Children in Wales works closely with its member organisations and has 

established working relationships with the Welsh Government and other 

funders.  A key role for our organisation is to maintain a constructive flow of 

information between those working to develop policy and legislation and 

those working directly with children and young people. Our conference and 

extensive training programme, together with the forums and networks that 

are supported or managed by Children in Wales, serve as a means for 

ensuring that our members and Welsh Government officials are kept 

informed of current and evolving developments in the field, and that these 

developments help shape policies and enhance practice. Children in Wales 

membership covers a vast array of organisation who work to improve the 

lives of children in Wales and includes voluntary/third sector organisations, 

professional associations, local authorities and health bodies, as well as 

many smaller community groups, schools and individual members. At the 

time of writing, there are over 260 members. For further information on the 

work of Children in Wales, please see www.childreninwales.org.uk and 

www.youngwales.wales 

 

In addition to this response Children in Wales wishes to draw the 

Committee’s attention to the response from the Third Sector Additional 

Needs Alliance (TSANA) and the UNCRC Monitoring Group. Children in Wales 

welcomes the opportunity to respond to this consultation. 

 

Are the Welsh Government’s three overarching objectives for the Bill the 

right objectives and is the Bill is sufficient to meet these? 

Tudalen y pecyn 72

http://www.childreninwales.org.uk/
http://www.youngwales.wales/


Overall Children in Wales welcomes the three overarching objectives of the 

reforms. However we believe that the Bill does not fully deliver on these 

objectives in a satisfactory way.  

 

Are the Welsh Government’s ten core aims for the Bill the right aims to have 

and is the Bill is sufficient to achieve these? 

Children in Wales believes that the ten core aims for the Bill are the right 

aims to have, but again we are concerned that the Bill will not sufficiently 

deliver on these intended aims.   

 

The remainder of our response highlights areas of concern within the Bill 

which explains our reasons for the above responses. 

Increased participation of children and young people and Children’s Rights  

Children in Wales welcomes the Welsh Government’s commitment to ensure 

that children have a voice when adults are making decisions that affect them 

(UNCRC Article 12, UNCRDP Article 7.3). We believe it is essential that 

children are fully involved, engaged and heard during every stage of the ALN 

process, and that robust monitoring arrangements are in place so that 

improved child rights based outcomes are achieved. Reasonable 

adjustments, including an appropriate allocation of time, support and 

encouragement to enable a child to express their views and actively 

participate, must be in place. Participation must be compliance with the 

recently refreshed Welsh Government’s National Participation Standards for 

Children and Young People. It is vital to ensure that the child fully 

understands the process and that appropriate methods of communication 

are used and are fully understood by the individual. The child should always 

be at the centre of the process and all appropriate language support for 

children and young people with additional learning needs or whose first 

language is neither English nor Welsh, must also be made available.  

 

Children in Wales strongly believes that the Bill should include provision for a 

duty of due regard to the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the 

Child and the United Nations Convention on the Rights of Disabled People on 

the face of the Bill. Given the objectives and principles of the Bill, it appears 

strange that the Bill was tabled without these duties. This represents a 

missed opportunity to help ensure that the conventions are fully embedded 

Tudalen y pecyn 73



in the legislation. We believe the Bill would be better and more likely to 

deliver its principles and aims for its inclusion if this occurs.  

 

Multi Agency Working  

The Bill aims to support early identification and timely intervention to ensure 

that every child and young person with an Additional Learning Need can 

achieve their full educational potential. The Welsh Government considers 

that sharing information between agencies is essential in terms of early 

identification of needs and that the right support is put in place for every 

child to enable children and young people to achieve their best possible 

outcomes. Children in Wales believes the requirement for organisations to 

share information could be made stronger and recommend that there should 

be a duty to work in a multi-agency way which is underpinned by local 

protocols between health, social services and education to assess and deliver 

provision.  

 

Health 

Children in Wales welcomes the significant attempt to strengthen the duty on 

health bodies “to consider whether there is any relevant treatment or service 

that is likely to be of benefit in addressing a child’s additional learning 

need”, that “any treatment or service so identified must be included in the 

learner’s IDP and that the health body must secure the provision of the 

treatment or service”. However if no treatment or service is identified, none 

will have to be provided. It is accepted that many practitioners will base their 

decision on clinical judgement but others may not identify a service because 

they believe that there is a lack of funds to provide it. The reference to 

treatment could also imply a clinical need where what is required is a more 

holistic focus on supporting social and developmental requirements. 

 

Health accountability is also an issue and Children in Wales is disappointed 

that the role of the Education Tribunal isn’t being expanded to cover health. 

Instead complaints will continue to be investigated under “Putting Things 

Right” which isn’t independent of health and has no timescales attached.  We 

would also question whether the power of the NHS, to decline a tribunal 

order to revise an IDP in order to secure the revised additional learning 

provisions, undermines the power of the tribunal.  

 

Tudalen y pecyn 74



Children in Wales welcomes clarification on the following sections of The 

Bill:-  

 Section18 (2) should be amended to ensure that a local authority can 

also refer an early years case to a NHS body to consider if there’s any 

health support which will support the child’s learning. 

 The Bill states that once an IDP outlines that a service is to be provided 

by a health body, the local authority/governing body loses 

responsibility for it (section 19 (4)). The Tribunal has no jurisdiction 

over health (section 19 (7) and (8). This could mean that so any 

provision named within an IDP loses legal enforceability which is a 

retrograde step from current legislation. 

 Section 57 (4) states that health bodies ‘may’ bring to attention of a 

local authority that they consider a child could have ALN. This is weak 

considering the key role that health play in the lives of many learners 

with ALN, especially within the early years when health professionals 

are those most likely to identify an additional need. 

 

Children in Wales believes that there is insufficient accountability on health 

in the Bill, in relation to children’s rights and entitlements. Children will be 

unable to learn and develop if their health needs are not being met. The 

Rights of Children and Young Persons (Wales) Measure places a clear duty on 

all Welsh Ministers, in exercising their functions, to have ‘due regard’ to the 

UNCRC. The Bill therefore has to evidence due regard to the UNCRC, and 

Children in Wales would advocate for this duty to be extended to health 

provision.  

 

 

 

Other Agencies 

Children in Wales recommends that the Bill should also be strengthened in 

relation to other multi-agency relationships, particularly around key 

transition points to ensure that appropriate bodies from early year and post-

16 settings work with local authorities. We are concerned that the Bill gives 

little information about young people who leave school, do not go onto 

further education but do require support from social services, health and 

other agencies. Previously many young people in this position were 

supported through the Welsh Government funded Transition Key Worker 

Tudalen y pecyn 75



programme which ran from 2008 – 2013 and the convergence funded 

Regional SEN Transition to Employment Initiative from 2011 – 2014 and 

Children in Wales is concerned that learning from these programmes is 

being lost., when evidence from practice could be used to inform the 

development of future services.  

 

The relationship between the Bill and the Social Services and Wellbeing Act 

should be enhanced. Children in Wales supports looked after children with 

ALN being entitled to an IDP and recommends that the care leaver’s pathway 

plan and the care and support plan, under Part 6 and Part 4 of the Social 

Services and Well-being (Wales) Act respectively, link to the IDP. Part 9 (Co-

operation and Partnership) of the Social Services and Well-being Act. This 

would ensure that provision is made for partnership arrangements between 

Local Authorities and Local Health Board, including pooled budgets. 

Cooperation and partnership working could be further reinforced by the 

introduction of a duty to work in a multi-agency way, underpinned by local 

protocols between health, social services and education to assess need and 

deliver provision.  

 

Needs Assessment / Provision Pathway and The Individual Development Plan  

Children in Wales welcomes that every child and young person with an 

Additional Learning Need will be entitled to a statutory Individual 

Development Plan (IDP) to support their learning. We note that the Bill 

requires that the child or young person’s voice should be at the heart of the 

decision making process, and to support this, a person centred planning 

system is being introduced to ensure that their views, wishes and feelings 

are fully taken into account when preparing and reviewing an IDP. To fully 

support this, all information within the plan must be fully understood by 

those children, young people and parents that it relates to. 

 

Children in Wales is concerned that a statutory template, which is consistent, 

legally accountable and portable, is not being proposed.  We believe that 

without a mandatory IDP template the Bill will not be able to deliver on many 

of its core aims. The development by local authorities or schools of their own 

IDPs could result in a multitude of templates in use which would not assist 

with multiagency working or assessing for compliance.  

 

Tudalen y pecyn 76



Children in Wales welcomes clarification on the following sections of The 

Bill:-  

 Section 21 of the Bill should reference the role of families and 

professionals within the review process.  

 Section 23 allows for an IDP to be prepared, reviewed or revised at the 

same time as another document for a learner. While there are benefits 

to combining the timing of certain plans, it is important that this is 

only permitted to happen if it does not cause unreasonable delays in 

creating an IDP.  

 Before directing governing bodies to prepare/maintain an IDP (Section 

12 (2b)), Children in Wales believes local authority should consider 

whether the school has the relevant expertise around the learner’s 

needs to do so. 

 

Children in Wales welcomes the inclusion of detained young people within 

the Bill. However we have a concern that Section 37 refers to “keep(ing)” IDPs 

for detained young persons, to be maintained again upon their release, 

rather than ensuring the continuation of an existing plan during the period 

of detention. This process will not provide constancy for detained children 

and young people with additional learning needs, which is required during 

their detention.  Children in Wales recommends that young people are 

assessed for ALN upon entry into the secure estate. This will ensure that the 

significant proportion of young people who have been detained and have 

additional learning needs that have not previously been recognised, will 

receive the appropriate support at an earlier stage.  

 

 

The capacity of the workforce to deliver the new arrangements 

Children in Wales believes that the main barriers to implementation of the 

Bill will be lack of knowledge and awareness of the reforms among key 

professionals. We are aware that the Welsh Government has developed a 

Transformation Programme to support implementation that includes 

training. However we recommend that -training includes:- 

 Training for multi-agency professionals, such as health visitors, GPs, 

early years’ providers, so that they are able to recognise when a child 

may have an ALN and make a referrals for an IDP.  

Tudalen y pecyn 77



 The Bill places a great deal of responsibility on school governors. 

Children in Wales is concerned that governors will not have the 

expertise in ALN, particularly in relation to low incidence needs. Failure 

to identify lower incidence needs, such as deafness, could prevent 

governing bodies from passing a case on to a local authority. It is 

therefore important that they receive training on ALN and the IDP 

process. 

 The Additional Learning Need Coordinators (ALNCOs) also have a 

prominent role in the new system and need to have a basic 

understanding of specific disabilities as well as the IDP systems and 

structures to ensure that they can provide training, mentoring and 

capacity building to other staff. It is essential that ALNCOS have 

designated time to fulfil their role. 

 Given the potential difficulties around capacity to deliver the system 

for all staff, section 56 of the Bill would benefit from a clause 

promoting forward planning mechanisms in local authorities. 

 Initial teacher training must include an increased focus on children 

with additional learning needs as well as including training on person 

centred planning. 

 

A 0-25 system 

Children in Wales welcomes that The Bill covers children from birth to 25 

years of age. However in its current format, we are concerned that the Bill 

does not deliver on a genuine 0-25 system. 

 

 

Early Years  

Children in Wales remains concerned by the lack of detail in the Bill about 

how the system will deliver for families in relation to the early years. The 

Explanatory Memorandum states that maintained nurseries must follow the 

statutory Code of Practice, while private nurseries will only have to pay 

regard to it. However some private nurseries receive state funding to provide 

pre-school places on behalf of local authorities. As these nurseries will 

therefore be in receipt of public funds, they must be under the same 

statutory obligations as maintained nurseries. If this doesn’t occur, the 

quality of ALN provision for families within the same local authority could be 

subject to significant inequalities. Consideration must be given in relation to 

Tudalen y pecyn 78



the impact of the legislation on pre-school playgroups and childminder 

provision.  

 

As the First 1,000 Days of parenting are now accepted to be the most 

significant in a child’s development, it is especially important that parents 

are given support from health professionals including health visitors and GPs 

who are the main universal professional contact for families in the early 

years. Children in Wales therefore recommends that it is important to raise 

awareness of the new ALN systems among these professionals and that 

education services and health child and development teams form positive 

working relationships.  

 

Post 16 

Children in Wales notes that Further Education Institutions (FEIs) are 

independent and outside the control of LA. Currently FEIs largely support 

young people with high incidence and low level needs.  However as a result 

of the transfer of post 16 funding from WG to the Local Authority revenue 

support grant, many young people with complex needs will attend FEIs 

rather than accessing residential placements.  Children in Wales 

recommends that further clarity is provided within the Bill on how FEIs can 

be supported under the new system. 

 

Children in Wales is disappointed that the Bill does not include those young 

people who are on training placements work based learning or 

apprenticeship schemes which reflects the options available to other young 

people above compulsory school age.   

 

 

Advocacy  

Children in Wales welcomes the provision within the Bill for children and 

young people with ALN to have access to an independent advocate. However, 

it will be important that all children, parents and young people with ALN are 

informed and regularly reminded of the entitlement to independent advocacy 

from the start of the process and not just upon their request.  

 

The Bill does not explicitly provide for the provision of advocacy for parents, 

this in spite of the Code informing that ’The child, child’s parent or young 

Tudalen y pecyn 79



person should be enabled to participate as fully as possible in the decision 

making processes.’ Children in Wales believes it is vital that the new ALN 

system does not disadvantage the children and young people, due to the 

challenge faced by parents of in navigating the system. We recommend that 

parents must be able to access advocacy support themselves.  

 

Monitoring / Data Recording  

Children in Wales recommends that ALN systems and structures form part of 

Estyn’s core inspection of schools, FEIs and local authorities. Statistics on 

The Education Tribunal and local authorities Dispute Resolution Services 

cases should be reported to the Welsh Government so that any areas where 

there may be recurrent issues of a similar nature are identified and 

addressed.  

Children in Wales notes that much responsibility is placed on schools within 

this Bill. It is important however that local authorities retain a degree of 

responsibility for monitoring schools and ensuring that they are delivering 

their duties effectively. 

 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 80



Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru | National Assembly for Wales 

CYPE(5)-10-17 – Papur | Paper 4  

 

 
 

About Us 

 

National Deaf Children’s Society (NDCS) Cymru is the national charity dedicated 

to creating a world without barriers for deaf children and young people.  

 

We represent the interests and campaign for the rights of all deaf children and 

young people from birth until they reach independence. 

 

In referring to deaf, we refer to all levels of hearing loss including mild to 

profound, unilateral and temporary. 

 

Response 

 

The Bill will affect deaf children and young people across the nation. We 

welcome many aspects of the Bill and acknowledge that some steps forward 

have been taken.  

 

However, many of the concerns we have previously highlighted and 

recommendations made by the former Children, Young People and Education 

Committee have not been fully addressed in this iteration of the Bill.  

 

Our response has been arranged around the headings provided within the 

Committee’s consultation letter. 

 

Whether the Welsh Government’s three overarching objectives are the right 

objectives and if the Bill is sufficient to meet these 

 

NDCS Cymru has always welcomed the overarching objectives of the reforms. 

However, as detailed within this response, we are concerned that the draft Bill 

does not fully and adequately deliver on any of these important objectives. 

 

Whether the Welsh Government’s ten core aims for the Bill are the right aims to 

have and if the Bill is sufficient to achieve these 

 

NDCS Cymru does not object to any of the core aims. However, as above, we 

are concerned that the Bill will not sufficiently deliver on these intended aims. 

Tudalen y pecyn 81



 
 

 

Any potential barriers to the implementation of the key provisions  

 

NDCS Cymru considers that the main barrier to effective implementation of the 

key provisions is lack of awareness among professionals. In particular, the 

following training is required: 

 

 Awareness raising among key multi-agency professionals so that they are 

able to competently make relevant referrals for an IDP. This includes 

health visitors, GPs, early years providers and audiologists. 

 

 Training on ALN and the IDP process is required of school governors. 

Much responsibility is placed upon these individuals who are essentially 

volunteers and may have no experience of ALN. 

 

 Training is required to ensure that those conducting IDP assessments are 

able to effectively deliver “Person-Centred Practice”. 

 

 Given the prominent role they are to play in the new process, ALNCos 

must have a good understanding of the IDP systems and structures, but 

also a basic understanding of specific disabilities, including deafness. We 

would welcome the opportunity to work with the Welsh Government in 

this regard. 

 

 Training for frontline education staff is essential to ensure the new 

systems operate effectively. Indeed, in its pre-legislative scrutiny, the 

former Children, Young People and Education Committee stated: “It is 

essential that the new arrangements for ITT and CPD fully take account of 

proposals for ALN and enable the education workforce to acquire and 

develop the skills required to deliver the new system effectively.” 

 

In spite of this, draft Welsh Government documents on Initial Teacher 

Education (ITE) accreditation (January 2017) are not sufficiently robust to 

ensure that ITE providers cover detailed information on ALN, the IDP 

process and basic awareness training in specific disabilities such as 

deafness. Ensuring that such training is in place within ITE would assist 

with the long-term delivery of the reformed process.  

 

Tudalen y pecyn 82



 
 

NDCS Cymru is also aware that many local authorities have developed their own 

IDP templates and processes. These templates vary in format, detail and 

quality. We deem this to be unacceptable and a barrier to the satisfactory 

implementation of a transformed system. It is imperative that, in delivering the 

new transformed system, clear directives are given to local authorities in order 

to avoid further confusion.  

 

Whether there are any unintended consequences arising from the Bill 

 

NDCS Cymru has many concerns in relation to unintended consequences of the 

Bill: 

 

 NDCS Cymru strongly believes in the need for a single national statutory 

template for an IDP. Without such a template, we consider that the Bill 

will not be able to deliver on many of its core aims. A statutory template 

is imperative to ensure consistency, transparency and legal enforceability. 

With the potential for local authorities - and even schools - to develop 

their own IDPs, there could be a multitude of templates in use which 

would not assist with multiagency working. 

 

NDCS Cymru would welcome the opportunity to be involved in 

discussions around the development of such a template. NDCS Cymru is 

a member of TSANA (Third Sector Additional Needs Alliance), which has 

produced a list of key sections that should be included within a template 

IDP. 

 

 We acknowledge the importance of learners with ALN being able to 

participate in all school activities. However, section 46 (1) fails to 

acknowledge that discreet provision and activities for learners with ALN 

can be equally important, as is the case for many deaf pupils in Wales 

who attend hearing impaired resource bases within mainstream schools. 

Such bases enable learners to benefit from specialist staff as well as the 

peer support of other hearing impaired pupils, whilst still being able to 

participate in wider school life.  

 

 We are concerned that the descriptors within section 50 (6) of the Bill may 

not cover key institutions such as Mary Hare School and Exeter Royal 

Tudalen y pecyn 83



 
 

Academy for Deaf Education, which deaf pupils from Wales currently 

attend. We seek clarity on this point. 

 

 Following concerns that the last iteration of the Bill did not address 

issues around mental capacity, the latest draft contains more information 

around mental capacity of learners and families to make decisions and to 

contribute to the IDP process. However, the definition on Section 75 (8a) 

is problematic. It implies that a person is deemed to lack mental capacity 

if they do not understand the materials presented to them. The definition 

does not allow for the fact that materials should be adapted to plain 

language and meet any access or communication needs. If this clause is 

not amended accordingly, it provides a loophole enabling involvement of 

families to be easily dismissed.  

 

 The Bill places much emphasis on the need for a young person to consent 

to entering the IDP process. In theory this is fine, but in practice, 

statutory guidance is required to ensure that young people are 

appropriately and fully informed before declining an IDP. This is a 

particular concern for the young deaf population, as many young deaf 

people may not wish to be labelled “deaf”. 

 

 Urgent clarification is needed over whether section 62 (4) relates to local 

authorities paying for advocacy services. It is important that these 

services are free of charge for families.  

 

 The Bill places great responsibilities on school governing bodies to 

determine learners’ needs and to decide which cases require 

consideration by a local authority.  NDCS Cymru is concerned that 

governors will not have the expertise in ALN, but especially in low 

incidence needs. This presents a danger for lower incidence needs, such 

as deafness, where a general lack of awareness could prevent governing 

bodies from passing a case on to a local authority.  

 

In order to safeguard against this, NDCS Cymru is calling for clarity within 

the Code of Practice that deafness constitutes a low incidence need and 

requires school governing bodies to pass cases onto local authorities. We 

have also been calling for a deaf specific provision pathway to clarify the 

assessment of deaf learners. We are pleased that the Welsh Government 

Tudalen y pecyn 84



 
 

has taken our calls for a provision pathway on board and NDCS Cymru 

wishes to be consulted on the development of this important document. 

We are also keen to ensure that provision pathways are placed on a 

statutory footing, so that the guidance receives the attention it requires. 

 

NDCS Cymru also seeks clarification that by placing the emphasis of the 

duty on governing bodies of schools and FEIs, the development of IDPs 

will not be subjected to time-delays related to governor meetings. 

 

 NDCS Cymru would question the emphasis placed on the efficient use of 

resources in Section 46 (2c) of the Bill. 

 

 Section 20 (1) refers to the need to include parents in the IDP process for 

cases concerning children. However, the inclusion of parents (or at least a 

case friend or advocate) can be important for a young person too, if they 

consent to this or if they lack mental capacity to engage in the system. 

 

The appropriateness of the powers in the Bill for the Welsh Ministers to make 

subordinate legislation 

 

 The Bill enables the Welsh Government to put in place a national statutory 

template for an IDP, but only if it chooses to do so. As outlined elsewhere 

in this response, we feel this must be amended to ensure that a national 

statutory template is in place. This is fundamental to the transparency, 

portability and legal accountability of the IDP. 

 

 There is no clause within the Bill to enable the Welsh Government to 

make statutory national guidelines on advocacy services. We feel that 

such national guidelines are imperative in order to secure consistency 

and quality assurance in these vital services. Without the existence of 

such key statutory guidelines, we believe the reforms will not deliver on 

many of the Welsh Government’s ten core aims (i.e. Increased 

participation of children and young people; A simpler and less adversarial 

system; Increased collaboration; Avoiding disagreements and earlier 

disagreement resolution and Clear and consistent rights of appeal.)  

 

 The Bill makes changes to the present system for registering independent 

schools. In removing section 347 in favour of a single section 160 

Tudalen y pecyn 85



 
 

application to register a special school/FEI, the ability for the Government 

to set regulations is lost. Current corresponding regulations refer to the 

qualifications of teachers employed to support pupils with a hearing 

impairment, visual impairment or a multi-sensory impairment (see The 

Education (SEN) (Approval of Independent Schools) Regulations 1994, 

Schedule 1 part 2 - 4.) As such, we are disappointed that regulations 

placed on registering independent schools are to be lost.  

 

 NDCS Cymru has long called for “disability specific provision pathways” to 

help ensure that frontline staff who have little or no awareness of specific 

disabilities are able to identify which professionals and assessments are 

required for a learner’s IDP. The Welsh Government has recently tendered 

for the development of such a pathway for sensory impairments. This is a 

great step forward. However, in order to ensure that such a pathway is 

effective it is imperative that the third sector are consulted on the 

development of the document and that the provision pathways have a 

statutory footing.  

 

 Section 5 (1) of the Bill outlines those that must be consulted before 

making changes to the Code of Practice. NDCS Cymru would urge that 

consultation with third sector organisations and families is also 

imperative. 

 

The provisions for collaboration and multi-agency working, and to what extent 

these are adequate 

 

Provisions to encourage multi-agency working within the Bill are weak and 

inadequate.  

 

The Welsh Government had initially planned for the reformed ALN system to 

strengthen collaboration with health, but NDCS Cymru considers that this Bill 

does not deliver on this aim. In particular: 

 

 The Bill states that once an IDP outlines that a service is to be provided by 

a health body, the local authority/governing body loses responsibility for 

it (section 19 (4)). The Tribunal has no jurisdiction over health (section 19 

(7) and (8)), so essentially any provision named within an IDP loses legal 

enforceability. This represents a backward step from current legislation 

Tudalen y pecyn 86



 
 

and would be a particular problem for speech and language therapy, a 

service that is especially important to many deaf learners.  

 

 Section18 (2) must be amended to ensure that a local authority can also 

refer an early years case to a NHS body to ask them to consider if there’s 

any health support from which the child’s learning might benefit.  

 

 Section 18 (3) outlines actions that must be taken prior to a local 

authority/governing body making a referral to a health body to consider 

a learner’s support needs. It is important that these actions do not cause 

substantial delays to the IDP process.  

 

 The Bill does not appear to enable a governing body to request 

information for an IDP from health. This needs to be rectified.  

 

 The new role of a Designated Education Clinical Lead Officer (DECLO) in 

each health board must be clearly defined as a strategic role. NDCS 

Cymru seeks assurances that: 

 

1. This new role will not detract from the importance of frontline staff 

and specialists in assessment and identification of need. There is a 

risk, particularly for lower incidence needs such as deafness, that 

support needs could be poorly understood by a person in a generic 

role spanning a range of additional learning needs.  

2. The DECLO does not have to approve every decision. It is 

imperative that the role does not become a barrier to timely health 

participation in an IDP by over-reliance on one individual.  

3. A detailed person specification, job description and dedicated time 

for the role are provided. 

4. Larger health boards/populations should consider the appointment 

of more than one DECLO. 

 

 The duty placed on health bodies in section 58 (2) is weak. It would be 

easy for a health professional to decline a request to provide information 

for an IDP with little reasoning.  

 

 In the 2015 consultation, many people raised concerns about the 

tribunal’s lack of power over health matters. However, this issue remains 

Tudalen y pecyn 87



 
 

in this iteration of the Bill. NDCS Cymru recommends that consideration 

is given as to whether the Education Tribunal Wales could consider health 

matters.  

 

 NDCS Cymru seeks clarification on the relationship between IDPs and 

IHPs (Individual Healthcare Plans). 

 

 Section 19(6) states that if NHS request removal of their provision, “the 

governing body or local authority must comply with the request”. The use 

of ‘must’ is worrying as it implies there is no need for further discussion 

before vital support is removed from a learner. 

 

 Section 57 (4) states that health bodies ‘may’ bring to attention of a local 

authority that they consider a child could have ALN. This is weak 

considering the key role that health play in the lives of many learners 

with ALN, especially within the early years when health professionals are 

those most likely to identify a hearing loss. This requirement should be a 

“must”, as in the equivalent duty on English health bodies (see section 23 

of the Children and Families Act 2014).  

 

Aside from collaboration with health, the Bill should also be strengthened in 

relation to other multi-agency relationships: 

 

 More detail on collaboration between agencies at transition is required. 

As an example, regulations highlighted at section 34 (2) do not cover the 

co-ordination of services to ensure smooth transitions between settings. 

Greater detail is needed within the Bill to ensure that appropriate bodies 

from early year and post-16 settings work with local authorities. 

 

 Section 11 (2e) highlights that a local authority does not have a 

responsibility to assess a potential ALN case brought to its attention if 

the learner is already enrolled at an FEI. However, this clause should be 

accompanied by a duty for the local authority to signpost the case on to 

the relevant FEI.  

 

 Section 16 (2c) of the Bill appears to absolve local authorities of the 

responsibility to consider an ALN referral for one of its looked after 

children if “the child is in the area of a local authority in England”. 

Tudalen y pecyn 88

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/6/section/23/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/6/section/23/enacted


 
 

However, in this case, there should be a responsibility to alert the English 

authority to the need to assess whether the child requires an ECHP.  

 

 The relationship between the Bill and the Social Services and Wellbeing 

Act would benefit from clarification. 

 

Whether there is enough clarity about the process for developing and 

maintaining IDPs and whose responsibility this will be 

 

NDCS Cymru considers that greater clarity on the process for developing and 

maintaining IDPs is imperative. Without such clarity, we are concerned that the 

reformed system will fail. In particular, we would draw the Committee’s 

attention to the following: 

 

 The development of a national statutory template for an IDP is essential 

to ensure that the process is clear. The existence of different templates 

across schools and local authorities would undermine the consistency 

and, as such, the IDP process would lack fundamental clarity.  

 

It is also worth noting that Section 23 (b) enables the IDP to be included 

within another document. Whist NDCS Cymru appreciates the importance 

of ensuring relevant plans are linked and attached to one another, it is 

imperative that the IDP document is not subsumed by a different plan 

altogether. This could result in a lack of transparency, clarity and indeed, 

legal protection of a learner’s Additional Learning Provision. 

 

 NDCS Cymru demands greater clarity on how the system will operate for 

learners within both the early years context and post-16 context. 

 

 We are particularly concerned about young people who are in the process 

of applying for a college place. The system is structured so that local 

authorities will assume responsibility for IDPs where a young person is 

attending a sixth-form college or a specialist placement, but that an FEI 

will be responsible for funding a learner’s support who attends a 

mainstream placement. A recent change to structures means that non-

ring fenced funding for this support has been provided from the Welsh 

Government to local authorities within its Revenue Support Grant and to 

FEIs within general settlements. Measures must be in place to safeguard 

Tudalen y pecyn 89



 
 

against these learners being referred back and forth between FEIs and 

local authorities. In addition, for learners considering applying to 

specialist placements, clarity is required over who is responsible for the 

IDP while these decisions are being made.  

 

 More detail is required to ensure that clear systems and structures are in 

place for learners who leave the education system, but return before they 

reach the age of 25.  

 

 As identified elsewhere within this response, NDCS Cymru is particularly 

concerned that governing bodies require information on low incidence 

needs such as deafness to ensure that such cases are referred and 

assessed appropriately. 

 

 The Bill mentions the need to name a school and boarding requirements 

in an IDP where a special placement is needed to meet a learner’s need, 

but there is no mention of the need to outline transport needs. Transport 

needs must be met for learners attending provision away from home (see 

section 12 (7) and section 17 (6).) 

 

 In deciding whether or not an IDP should be reviewed a governing 

body/local authority has to consider whether a child/young person’s 

needs have changed (e.g. section 9 (3b)). A clearly defined process is 

required for making such decisions and families must have the 

opportunity to express their views within this process, as should 

professionals working with young people. 

 

 It will be imperative that the final version of the Code of Practice includes 

clear and robust time limits to ensure that the IDP process works 

effectively. 

 

 We recommend that section 10 (2) of the Bill clarifies that low incidence 

needs are also to be referred to a local authority. 

 

 It is imperative that the Code of Practice clearly states the need for 

Teachers of the Deaf to be involved in developing/advising on IDP if a 

child is deaf.  

 

Tudalen y pecyn 90



 
 

 NDCS Cymru believes that in addition to those already outlined within 

section 21, a request to review a learner’s IDP should also be able to be 

made by professionals working directly with the child. It is essential that 

this section of the Bill references the role of families and professionals 

within the review process. The Code of Practice must clearly detail 

procedures on how reviews are to operate to ensure that decisions are 

made following appropriate consultation.  

 

 Section 23 allows for an IDP to be prepared, reviewed or revised at the 

same time as another document for a learner. While there are benefits to 

combining the timing of certain plans, it is important that this is only 

permitted to happen if it does not cause unreasonable delays in creating 

an IDP – a clause is required to this effect.  

 

 A clear procedure is needed within the Code of Practice to outline 

processes for ceasing to maintain an IDP in order to ensure transparency. 

 

 NDCS Cymru requests that the definition of ALP (section 3 (1)) would be 

clearer if school/FEI learners had the same definition as children aged 

under 3. 

 

 Before directing governing bodies to prepare/maintain an IDP (Section 12 

(2b)), NDCS Cymru believes the local authority must consider whether the 

school has the relevant expertise in the learner’s needs to do so. 

 

 

 

Whether the Bill will establish a genuinely 0-25 system 

 

NDCS Cymru believes that one of the greatest merits of the new Bill is the 

concept of a system that reaches from birth to 25. Under the existing systems 

and structures, educational support in the early years is often overlooked, much 

to the detriment of the child’s long-term educational development. In addition, 

the different systems for supporting learners at school and in post-16 

education have led to a disjointed and confused experience for learners during 

a significant transitional time. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 91



 
 

Unfortunately, in its current format, we are concerned that the Bill does not 

deliver on a genuine 0-25 system. 

 

 Within its pre-legislative scrutiny letter to the then-Education and Skills 

Minister (December 2015), the former Committee stated that “early years 

collaboration is vital, but the draft Bill and Code are very vague on what 

this means and how it will work in practice.” Unfortunately this issue has 

not been addressed in this version of the Bill and there remains a lack of 

reference to the early year context throughout the Bill. Provision for 

under-3 is not detailed or linked to the variety of settings in which they 

might be accessing child-care and early learning. It is imperative that this 

issue is addressed. 

 

 The Explanatory Memorandum states that the Bill will require maintained 

nurseries to follow the statutory Code of Practice, but that private 

nurseries will only have to pay regard to it. Many private nurseries across 

the country receive state funding to provide pre-school places on behalf 

of local authorities. Since these nurseries are in receipt of public funds to 

provide this service, they must be under the same statutory obligations 

as maintained nurseries. Otherwise, the quality of ALN provision for 

families within the same local authority could be subject to inequalities 

and post-code lotteries. It is also worth considering how the legislation 

will affect Meithrin operated nurseries. 

 

 In addition, section 18 (2) seems to be saying by omission that a local 

authority could not refer a 0-5 year old to a NHS body to ask them to 

consider if there’s any health support from which the child’s learning 

might benefit. It is imperative that this is amended as health support in 

the early stages, particularly speech and language therapy and audiology 

for deaf children, can be essential in establishing the foundations of a 

child’s educational development. 

 

 It will be fundamental that education services and health child and 

development teams form positive working relationships.  

 

 Aside from provisions within the Bill, NDCS Cymru believes that raising 

awareness of the new ALN systems among health professionals will be 

essential to securing referrals for IDPs in the early years. Indeed, health 

Tudalen y pecyn 92



 
 

professionals such as a GP, audiologist or health visitor are likely to be 

the main point of professional contact for families of children with ALN in 

the early years.  

 

Given that health visitors are the main universal professional contact for 

families in the early years, NDCS Cymru recommends that health visitors 

have a firm duty to engage with the new system. 

 

 NDCS Cymru considers that more detail around how systems and 

structures will work within a post-16 context is also required. Indeed, a 

recent survey conducted by NDCS Cymru of FEIs in Wales revealed that 

current systems for supporting learners with ALN in FEIs vary across the 

nation. As such, a clear steer is required in the Code of Practice to secure 

a consistent approach to ALN across FEIs. 

 

 There is an unresolved issue in relation the fact that FEIs have 

responsibility for IDP assessments where a young person will be 

attending mainstream college and a local authority where there will be a 

specialist placement. This divide is of little help in assisting a young 

person through the application process before placement decisions are 

made.  

 

 Section 11 (2e) removes a local authority’s responsibility for considering 

an ALN case referred to them where that young person is already enrolled 

at an FEI. However, this could hinder a young person who is struggling at 

a mainstream placement and wishes to consider other options.  

 

 It is disappointing that the IDP will only be available to 16-25 year olds 

who are in further education. Despite widespread calls within the 

December 2015 consultation process, the Bill does not cover those 

undertaking work-based learning.  

 

 Section 32 sets out when a local authority/ governing body responsibility 

to maintain an IDP ceases as the learner reaches the upper age limit. 

However, it is important that if local authorities and governing bodies do 

decide to cease an IDP at this point, measures are taken to prepare the 

learner. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 93



 
 

 Sections 42 (4b) and 47 (2) refers to local authorities making specialist 

placements at schools but not at FEIs. 

 

 At present the Bill does not cover learners in higher education. NDCS 

Cymru is aware that the Welsh Government is currently considering 

changes/restrictions to DSA. Should these changes go ahead, we urge 

that this point be reconsidered.  

 

The capacity of the workforce to deliver the new arrangements 

 

Undoubtedly capacity of the workforce is an issue in delivering the new 

arrangements. In particular: 

 

 NDCS Cymru provided information to the Welsh Government’s Workforce 

planning of special educational needs (SEN) specialist services and is 

pleased the Welsh Government has acknowledged that many Teachers of 

the Deaf across Wales are due to retire within the next few years. This is a 

serious issue that must be addressed. NDCS Cymru seeks a firm 

commitment from the Welsh Government to this end. 

 

 Further consideration is required on access to specialist professionals 

within FEIs. A survey conducted by NDCS Cymru revealed that many FEIs 

in Wales do not employ specialists to support deaf learners. 

 

 NDCS Cymru calls for the availability of Communication Support Workers 

in Wales with an appropriate British Sign Language level 3 qualification to 

be reviewed. This support is crucial for meeting the needs of deaf 

learners who us British Sign Language (BSL). 

 

 Greater planning is also required to ensure that Welsh medium ALP is 

available where required. Section 56 (3a) requires local authorities to 

“have regard to the desirability of ensuring that additional learning 

provision is available in Welsh”, but without greater work around more 

detailed Welsh in Education Strategic Plans and workforce planning, the 

availability of services in the family’s preferred language will remain an 

issue. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 94



 
 

 The Bill places a great deal of responsibility on school governors. The 

frequency of governor meetings could place restraints on a school’s 

capacity and timely delivery of IDPs and decisions on ALN. 

 

 Clarity is required on the need for low incidence needs, such as deafness 

to be passed on to local authorities. Holding such cases at school level 

will further restrict a school’s capacity. 

 

 The ALNCo will take on a great deal of responsibility within this reformed 

system. It is essential that those performing this role have appropriate 

and designated time. 

 

 Given the potential difficulties around capacity, section 56 of the Bill 

would benefit from adding in clause around local authorities forward 

planning. 

 

The proposed new arrangements for dispute resolution and avoidance 

 

Advocacy and an awareness of rights are imperative if the new system is to 

work effectively for families. However, we are concerned that the Bill does not 

provide sufficient measures for an effective DRS and advocacy service. In 

particular, we have the following concerns: 

 

 There is no clause in the Bill to allow for the Welsh Government to make 

statutory national guidelines on advocacy services. We feel that such 

national guidelines are imperative in order to secure national consistency 

and standards in these vital services. 

 

 The Bill clearly states that any provision outlined in the IDP as provided 

by health will not be a legal responsibility of the local authority. Since the 

Tribunal will not have any jurisdiction over health matters, this means 

that families could face two different appeals/complaints systems within 

one IDP – the Education Tribunal Wales and Putting Things Right. This is 

confusing for families and contradicts the Welsh Government’s core aim 

to develop “clear and consistent rights of appeal”.  

 

 The Bill does not mention advocacy services for parents – just young 

people. This is of great concern. It is imperative that the new ALN system 

Tudalen y pecyn 95



 
 

does not disadvantage young people born to parents less able to navigate 

the system. 

 

 It is of great concern that, throughout the Bill, when LAs/governing 

bodies are required to inform families of  key decisions (such as a 

decision to review, or cease to maintain an IDP), they are not also 

required to inform families of appeal rights and access to advocacy. 

 

 Clarification is needed over whether section 63 (4) relates to local 

authorities paying for advocacy services. It is important that these 

services are free of charge for families.  

 

 All information must be provided to families in plain language in a format 

that meets any communication/access requirements. This is not outlined 

in the Bill and is a glaring omission. 

 

 Clarification is required on case friends. As an example, it seems that 

they are only available for young people who lack capacity, but NDCS 

Cymru believes they should also be available to young people who lack 

confidence.  

 

 Section 29 of the Bill states that families should be notified of a proposal 

to review/cease to maintain an IDP. However, a firm procedure must also 

be in place to ensure that they can participate in discussions around such 

decisions.  

 

 Within its pre-legislative scrutiny on the former Draft Bill (letter to the 

Minister for Education and Skills, December 2015), the Committee wrote 

that “the Bill could be used to provide greater powers to the Tribunal in a 

number of specific areas, including: The ability to deal with persistent 

offenders and dealing with inaction after tribunal decisions; To promote 

more focussed multi-agency working; To offer a conciliation procedure 

following the tribunal decision; To be able to address failures or lack of 

compliance by health authorities.”  

 

NDCS Cymru is disappointed that these points have not been taken on 

board in the latest draft of the Bill. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 96



 
 

 NDCS Cymru considers that rights to appeal to the Tribunal, as listed 

within Section 63 (2), should also include; failure to provide the provision 

in the plan; the objectives set; the nature of the assessment and whether 

it was conducted as person centred planning. Clarification is also 

required on whether appeals on accommodation or transport needs 

would be covered within the right to appeal on ALP. It is important that 

appeal rights on these needs are also included. 

 

 The Bill (at section 69 or elsewhere) does not appear to provide the 

Tribunal with any powers to sanction should a body fail to comply with a 

tribunal order. 

 

 NDCS Cymru strongly recommends that local authority Dispute resolution 

services and the Education Tribunal Wales be required to provide data to 

the Welsh Government on a regular basis. This would enable any 

recurring patterns of appeal and dispute cases within an authority to be 

identified and addressed. 

 

 Given the particular vulnerability of looked after children, and the conflict 

of interest within the local authority’s dual role as guardian and IDP co-

ordinator, consideration should be given as to whether these learners are 

automatically appointed an advocate.  

 

 NDCS Cymru notes that the Code of Practice is described as a document 

for professionals. We recommend that a Code of Practice for Families is 

also developed to help ensure families understand and are able to engage 

with the process. Indeed, current information provided by local 

authorities to families on the Statementing system varies in quality.  

 

 NDCS Cymru seeks clarification on whether parents of young people will 

be able to take forward an appeal on their behalf.  

 

Monitoring and Inspection 

 

In addition to the points covered within the questions set by the Committee, 

NDCS Cymru also wanted to take this opportunity to highlight the importance 

of ensuring that appropriate measures are in place to ensure that the ALN 

Tudalen y pecyn 97



 
 

systems and structures are operating effectively. In particular, we would 

suggest the following: 

 

 That section 56 of the Bill should include the need for local authorities to 

seek the views of families and learners on the sufficiency of provision 

when conducting its review. Indeed, section 27(3) of the Children and 

Families Act 2014 places a firm need for local authorities in England to 

consult appropriately. 

 

 We would also recommend that ALN systems and structures form part of 

Estyn’s core inspection of schools, FEIs and local authorities. 

 

 We also recommend that statistics on tribunal and DRS cases should be 

reported to the Welsh Government so that any areas where there may be 

recurrent issues of a similar nature are identified and acted on. 

 

 Much responsibility is placed on schools within this Bill. NDCS Cymru 

believes it is important that local authorities retain some level of 

responsibility for monitoring schools and ensuring that they are 

delivering their duties effectively. 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 98

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/6/section/27/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/6/section/27/enacted


Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 99

Eitem 4Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) vi o Reol Sefydlog 17.42



Kirsty Williams AM/AC 
Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Addysg 
Cabinet Secretary for Education 
  
 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 

Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1NA 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  

0300 0604400 

                Correspondence.Kirsty.Williams@gov.wales 
 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni 

fydd gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  

 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and 

corresponding in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

 
Ein cyf/Our ref: MA–(P)/KW/0988/17 
 
 
 
Lynne Neagle AC 
Cadeirydd 
Y Pwyllgor Plant, Pobl Ifanc ac Addysg 
Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru 
Bae Caerdydd 
CF99 1NA 

14 Mawrth 2017 
 
 
 
Annwyl Lynne, 
 
Diolch am eich llythyr dyddiedig 21 Chwefror. Hoffwn ddiolch i'r Pwyllgor Plant, Pobl 
Ifanc ac Addysg am ei waith yn adolygu Adroddiad Blynyddol Estyn 2015/16 ac 
Addysg a Dysgu Proffesiynol Athrawon. 
 
Mae'r Pwyllgor wedi gofyn am y wybodaeth ddiweddaraf am Fesurau Perfformiad 
Cyfnod Allweddol 4. Rydym wedi gwneud rhai newidiadau cychwynnol i'r rhain. Bydd 
rhoi llai o bwyslais ar y Sgôr Pwyntiau wedi'i Chapio fel prif ddangosydd yn arwain at 
fwy o amrywiaeth o raglenni astudio i ddisgyblion. Bydd y penderfyniad i 
ganolbwyntio llai ar y Sgôr Pwyntiau wedi'i Chapio, ond cadw'r mesur ochr yn ochr â 
mesurau eraill megis trothwy cynwysedig Lefel 2, fel rhan o ystod eang o fesurau 
perfformiad, yn ein galluogi i gael darlun gwell o gyrhaeddiad disgyblion. Bydd hefyd 
yn rhoi peth dealltwriaeth inni o gyflawni dyfarniadau lefel uwch, yn fwy na'r rhai a  
nodir ar hyn o bryd gan y mesurau trothwy yn unig.  
 
Fodd bynnag, mae gennyf bryderon ynghylch y system atebolrwydd gyfredol yn 
ymwneud â chydlyniaeth, canlyniadau anfwriadol a'r berthynas rhwng asesiadau 
addysgu ac atebolrwydd. Mae'r rhain wedi cael eu rhannu â ni gan benaethiaid.  
 
Rwyf wedi cyhoeddi adolygiad sylfaenol o'n system atebolrwydd a fydd yn cael ei 
llywio gan y proffesiwn addysgu a rhanddeiliaid eraill. Rwyf am gael system 
atebolrwydd sy'n:  
 

 Deg - er mwyn sicrhau ein bod yn hyrwyddo tegwch, cynhwysiant, dewis, 
llwybrau unigol at ddysgu a byth yn colli golwg ar y plant 

 Cydlynol - er mwyn caniatáu i bob rhan o'r system weithio gyda'i gilydd heb 
orgyffwrdd, gyda rolau a chyfrifoldebau clir 

Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru | National Assembly for Wales 
CYPE(5)-10-17 – Papur | Paper 6 - i'w nodi | to note

Tudalen y pecyn 120

Eitem 6.1

mailto:Correspondence.Kirsty.Williams@gov.wales


 Cymesur - gan sicrhau bod y drefn o roi'r system a'r broses newydd ar waith 
yn hylaw ac yn gwneud gwahaniaeth a sybsidiaredd gan ganiatáu i'r 
cyfrifoldeb am atebolrwydd ysgolion fod yn lleol ac wedi'i arwain gan ysgolion 
hunan-ymwybodol 

  Tryloyw - cydnabod ehangder y profiad dysgu ar draws ysgolion a'r gwerth y 
mae athrawon yn ei ychwanegu yn y dosbarth 

  A system sy'n seiliedig ar ein gwerthoedd cyffredin ar gyfer addysg yng 
Nghymru - hyrwyddo a helpu i wireddu'r pedwar diben addysg a ddisgrifir yn 
Dyfodol Llwyddiannus. 

 
Bydd yr adolygiad hwn yn arwain at system sydd â rolau a chyfrifoldebau clir, sy'n 
hyrwyddo cynhwysiant a thegwch, ac yn cydnabod gwerth sy'n cael ei ychwanegu 
gan athrawon yn yr ystafell ddosbarth, ar draws y system. Bydd prosesau 
atebolrwydd diwygiedig a dangosyddion perfformiad yn darparu tystiolaeth ar gyfer 
gwella cyrhaeddiad a chynnydd pob dysgwr ac yn ysgogi hynny.  
 
Byddaf yn darparu'r wybodaeth ddiweddaraf ar gynnydd i Aelodau'r Cynulliad. 
 
Hefyd, gofynnodd y Pwyllgor am y wybodaeth ddiweddaraf ar gymhellion addysg 
athrawon yn dilyn cyhoeddi Addysgu Athrawon Yfory. Mae hwn yn amser allweddol 
inni ystyried pob agwedd ar recriwtio, cadw a datblygu a'r cymhellion sydd ar waith i 
ddenu a chadw athrawon o ansawdd yng Nghymru. Fel rhan o'i raglen waith 
ehangach, yn cefnogi'r broses o ddiwygio Addysg Gychwynnol i Athrawon yng 
Nghymru, bydd ein Fforwm Arbenigol Addysg Gychwynnol i Athrawon dan 
gadeiryddiaeth yr Athro John Furlong yn adolygu agweddau ar recriwtio, cadw a 
datblygu athrawon.   
 
Yn ddiweddar, derbyniais adolygiad mewnol ar weithrediad cymhellion i addysgu ac 
rwyf wedi'i gyfeirio at y Fforwm Arbenigol Addysg Gychwynnol i Athrawon i'w 
ystyried. Rwyf wedi cytuno y bydd y cynllun cymhellion ariannol Addysg Gychwynnol 
i Athrawon presennol yn parhau yn 17/18. Bydd y Fforwm Arbenigol hefyd yn 
adolygu tystiolaeth o arferion gorau ar gyfer llwybrau gwahanol i addysgu, gan 
ymchwilio'n llawn i'w potensial i gefnogi, recriwtio a chadw athrawon.   
 
Mae'r cwricwlwm newydd wrthi'n cael ei greu yng Nghymru a byddwn yn seilio dysgu 
proffesiynol i bawb ar yr arferion gorau sydd ar gael, gan adeiladu'r dyfodol ar 
safonau proffesiynol sy'n ysbrydoli athrawon i weithio gyda'i gilydd tuag at ragoriaeth 
- mae angen inni barhau i ddatblygu ein cynnig unigryw i ddenu'r bobl orau i fod yn 
athrawon a gwneud addysgu yn yrfa gydol oes.   
 
Yn gywir,  

 
Kirsty Williams AM/AC 
Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Addysg 
Cabinet Secretary for Education 

Tudalen y pecyn 121



Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru | National Assembly for Wales 

CYPE(5)-10-17 – Papur | Paper 7- i'w nodi | to note 

1. A note clarifying the data on the proportion of schools in follow-up 

 

 

For clarity, we have added columns to Figure 3.22 from HMCI’s Annual Report for 2015-2016 to show the proportions that Mr Llyr 

Gruffydd referred to during Committee (see rightmost columns). The proportions for 2010-2011 were lower compared with the rest 

of the cycle. However, the data for 2010-2011 are anomalous. The reason for this is that Estyn introduced in-housing of school 

inspections in September 2010, but 2010-2011 was a transitional year, when half of inspections were still contracted out to 

independent inspectors. Since that year, the proportion of schools placed in the follow-up categories of special measures, 

significant improvement and Estyn monitoring have remained broadly constant – the total proportions for these categories being 

36%, 38%, 43%, 38% and 35% for the last five years (a slight increase followed by a decline over the most recent years). It is these 

proportions that explain why we feel there is no significant increase in the level of follow-up, although the level itself is a cause for 

concern. For information, the local authority (LA) monitoring category has been discontinued during this present academic year 

(2016-2017). This is because this category was always intended as a reminder to LAs of their responsibility to monitor progress 

made by low-risk schools in addressing recommendations made during inspection – a role that they and regional consortia are now 

undertaking more effectively than in the past.  

Number of maintained schools that went into follow-up at the time of their core inspection

Year

Special 

measures

In need of 

significant 

improvement

Estyn 

monitoring LA monitoring

Total in follow-

up 

Total number 

of inspections Number %

2010-2011 4 10 51 40 105 279 65 23% 38%

2011-2012 7 14 75 37 133 266 96 36% 50%

2012-2013 11 14 75 34 134 265 100 38% 51%

2013-2014 8 14 98 62 182 279 120 43% 65%

2014-2015 12 20 71 68 171 274 103 38% 62%

2015-2016 9 9 61 61 140 223 79 35% 63%

Source: Estyn's Follow up Database

Inspections placed into 

SM/SI/EM categories at 

core inspection % of total inspections 

placed into all follow 

up categories at core 

inspection

T
udalen y pecyn 122

E
item

 6.2



2 
 

 

 

 

2. A note on community focused schools including examples of good practice of what makes a good community 

focused school. 

The following summarises findings from inspections over the last five years in schools across Wales regarding partnership work 

between schools and their communities. Appendix 1 identifies best practice case studies that further illustrate the work of effective 

community-focused schools.  Generally, schools place a high priority on developing and strengthening community links.  Schools 

main purposes in establishing these links is to improve outcomes for pupils, particularly disadvantaged pupils, and also to provide 

services to the communities they serve.  Schools that are successful in establishing effective community partnerships: 

 Establish and implement a vision that places the school at the heart of the community 

 Ensure the school has a welcoming ethos to all stakeholders, in particular parents and carers 

 Create effective community engagement plans that focus on improving outcomes for pupils  

 Use specific activities to improve educational outcomes and wellbeing, such as family learning projects and workshops to help 
parents know how best to help their children to improve key skills or in particular areas of the curriculum 

 Engage with parents and carers of disadvantaged learners successfully to help them and their children to overcome barriers to 
learning and wellbeing 

 Engage in ‘Team around the family’ approaches, using the pool of skills within the team to address the health, domestic and 
social welfare concerns of learners and their families 

 Support pupils and their families well to engage with specialist services, for example when pupils have special educational 
needs.  These often include educational psychologists, speech therapists and physiotherapists 

 Identify specific challenges in their local areas and strengthen community links to tackle these.  For example, raise attendance 
rates, improve behaviour, raise the level of parental support and reduce the incidence of vandalism 

 Provide pupils with special educational needs with valuable opportunities to engage with their local communities to develop life 
skills 

 Establish effective arrangements to provide care facilities before and after the school day, for example through breakfast club 
(usually primary schools) 

 

T
udalen y pecyn 123



3 
 

The above approaches often have a positive impact on outcomes for pupils and for parents.  These include: 
 

 Improvements in pupil attendance 

 Improved standards of behaviour 

 Improved literacy and numeracy skills 

 Improved parental capacity to support their child at school 

 Improved relationships between parents and schools and between parents and their children 

 Supporting parents to access education and employment to improve their family circumstances 

 Supporting parents that are new to the country to find a ‘place’ in the community support their children successfully 

 Enable parents to work in the knowledge that their children are well looked after before and after school 
 
Estyn has produced several reports on pupil deprivation. The main findings of these reports are summarised in ‘Pupil Deprivation’ 

(Estyn, May 2014), which is available at:  

https://www.estyn.gov.wales/sites/default/files/documents/Pupil%20deprivation.pdf 

https://www.estyn.gov.wales/sites/default/files/documents/Pupil%20deprivation%20cy.pdf 

 
The report notes that schools alone cannot break the link between disadvantage and achievement. Although the school has an 
important role to play in improving the achievements of disadvantaged learners, research stresses the need for broad-based 
approaches that involve a number of agencies working together to address community-based issues. In addition to the school, 
these include other educational, social and health services.  
 
Some of the multi-agency strategies used by schools for this purpose are summarised in the following diagram from the report: 
 

T
udalen y pecyn 124

https://www.estyn.gov.wales/sites/default/files/documents/Pupil%20deprivation.pdf
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/sites/default/files/documents/Pupil%20deprivation%20cy.pdf


4 
 

 
 
 
  

T
udalen y pecyn 125



5 
 

Appendix 1 
 

Name of School Case 
Study/inspection 

report 

Link 

Cefn Hengoed Community School, 
Swansea 

A holistic approach to 
improving attendance 

https://www.estyn.gov.wales/best-
practice/holistic-approach-improving-
attendance 
 

Treorchy Comprehensive School 3.3 Partnership 
working  

 

https://www.estyn.gov.wales/sites/default/fi
les/documents/Treorchy%20Comprehensi
ve%20School.pdf 
 

Tredegarville Primary School, 
Cardiff 

Effective partnerships 
that engage children 
and enrich the 
curriculum 

https://www.estyn.gov.wales/best-
practice/effective-partnerships-engage-
children-and-enrich-curriculum 
 

Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg y Castell, 
Caerphilly 

Improving outcomes 
for pupils receiving 
free school meals 

https://www.estyn.gov.wales/best-
practice/improving-outcomes-pupils-
receiving-free-school-meals 
 

Monkton Priory CP School, 
Pembrokeshire 

Supporting adult 
learning and skills 
acquisition 

https://www.estyn.gov.wales/best-
practice/supporting-adult-learning-and-
skills-acquisition 
 

Ysgol Maesglas, Flintshire Building partnerships 
with families 

https://www.estyn.gov.wales/best-
practice/building-partnerships-families 
 

St Helen’s Primary School, 
Swansea 

Engaging with parents 
to improve pupil 
attendance 

https://www.estyn.gov.wales/best-
practice/engaging-parents-improve-pupil-
attendance-0 

T
udalen y pecyn 126

https://www.estyn.gov.wales/best-practice/holistic-approach-improving-attendance
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/best-practice/holistic-approach-improving-attendance
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/best-practice/holistic-approach-improving-attendance
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/best-practice/effective-partnerships-engage-children-and-enrich-curriculum
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/best-practice/effective-partnerships-engage-children-and-enrich-curriculum
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/best-practice/effective-partnerships-engage-children-and-enrich-curriculum
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/best-practice/improving-outcomes-pupils-receiving-free-school-meals
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/best-practice/improving-outcomes-pupils-receiving-free-school-meals
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/best-practice/improving-outcomes-pupils-receiving-free-school-meals
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/best-practice/supporting-adult-learning-and-skills-acquisition
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/best-practice/supporting-adult-learning-and-skills-acquisition
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/best-practice/supporting-adult-learning-and-skills-acquisition
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/best-practice/building-partnerships-families
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/best-practice/building-partnerships-families
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/best-practice/engaging-parents-improve-pupil-attendance-0
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/best-practice/engaging-parents-improve-pupil-attendance-0
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/best-practice/engaging-parents-improve-pupil-attendance-0


6 
 

 

Garnteg Primary School, Torfaen   Working in partnership 
with parents to raise 
learner literacy and 
numeracy 

https://www.estyn.gov.wales/best-
practice/working-partnership-parents-raise-
learner-literacy-and-numeracy 
 

Severn Primary School, Cardiff Finding new ways to 
widen pupils’ 
experiences 

https://www.estyn.gov.wales/best-
practice/finding-new-ways-widen-
pupils%E2%80%99-experiences 
 

Wrexham early years centre, 
Wrexham 

Engaging and 
supporting parents and 
families 

https://www.estyn.gov.wales/best-
practice/engaging-and-supporting-parents-
and-families 
 

 
More case studies are available at www.estyn.gov.wales 
 
Further reading 

Leadership and primary school improvement – September 2016 

https://www.estyn.gov.wales/thematic-reports/leadership-and-primary-school-improvement  

Best practice in leadership development in schools - June 2015 

https://www.estyn.gov.wales/thematic-reports/best-practice-leadership-development-schools-june-2015  

Twelve secondary school improvement journeys - December 2013 

https://www.estyn.gov.wales/thematic-reports/twelve-secondary-school-improvement-journeys-december-2013 

Working together to tackle the impact of poverty on educational achievement - December 2013 

https://www.estyn.gov.wales/thematic-reports/working-together-tackle-impact-poverty-educational-achievement-december-2013  

Effective practice in tackling poverty and disadvantage in schools - November 2012 

T
udalen y pecyn 127

https://www.estyn.gov.wales/best-practice/working-partnership-parents-raise-learner-literacy-and-numeracy
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/best-practice/working-partnership-parents-raise-learner-literacy-and-numeracy
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/best-practice/working-partnership-parents-raise-learner-literacy-and-numeracy
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/best-practice/finding-new-ways-widen-pupils%E2%80%99-experiences
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/best-practice/finding-new-ways-widen-pupils%E2%80%99-experiences
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/best-practice/finding-new-ways-widen-pupils%E2%80%99-experiences
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/best-practice/engaging-and-supporting-parents-and-families
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/best-practice/engaging-and-supporting-parents-and-families
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/best-practice/engaging-and-supporting-parents-and-families
http://www.estyn.gov.wales/
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/thematic-reports/leadership-and-primary-school-improvement
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/thematic-reports/best-practice-leadership-development-schools-june-2015
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/thematic-reports/twelve-secondary-school-improvement-journeys-december-2013
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/thematic-reports/working-together-tackle-impact-poverty-educational-achievement-december-2013


7 
 

https://www.estyn.gov.wales/thematic-reports/effective-practice-tackling-poverty-and-disadvantage-schools-november-2012 

Tackling poverty and disadvantage in schools: working with the community and other services - July 2011 

https://www.estyn.gov.wales/thematic-reports/tackling-poverty-and-disadvantage-schools-working-community-and-other-services-

july  

 

 

T
udalen y pecyn 128

https://www.estyn.gov.wales/thematic-reports/effective-practice-tackling-poverty-and-disadvantage-schools-november-2012
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/thematic-reports/tackling-poverty-and-disadvantage-schools-working-community-and-other-services-july
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/thematic-reports/tackling-poverty-and-disadvantage-schools-working-community-and-other-services-july

	Agenda
	2 Y Bil Anghenion Dysgu Ychwanegol a'r Tribiwnlys Addysg (Cymru) - sesiwn dystiolaeth 16
	CYPE(5)-10-17 – Papur | Paper 1 - Cynghrair Anghenion Ychwanegol y Trydydd Sector (Saesneg yn unig)
	CYPE(5)-10-17 – Papur | Paper 2 - SNAP Cymru (Saesneg yn unig)
	CYPE(5)-10-17 – Papur | Paper 3 - Plant yng Nghymru (Saesneg yn unig)
	CYPE(5)-10-17 – Papur | Paper 4 - Y Gymdeithas Genedlaethol i Blant Byddar (Saesneg yn unig)

	4 Ymgynghoriad y 1,000 Diwrnod Cyntaf - cytuno ar ddull
	6.1 Llythyr gan Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Addysg - rhagor o wybodaeth yn dilyn y sesiwn gydag Estyn ar 15 Chwefror
	6.2 Gwybodaeth ychwanegol gan Estyn yn dilyn y cyfarfod ar 15 Chwefror



